SNOW DYNAMICS AND SOIL MOISTURE IN COMMERCIALLY THINNED LODGEPOLE PINE SILVOPASTURES ON THE OKANAGAN PLATEAU OF SOUTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

Ву

Kyle Gillich

Thompson Rivers University, 2023

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

DEGREE OF

MASTERS OF SCIENCE in ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

in the Faculty of Science



Thesis examining committee:

Dr. Lauchlan Fraser (PhD), Professor and Thesis Supervisor, Department of Natural Resource Sciences, Thompson Rivers University.

Dr. Tom Pypker (PhD), Professor and Thesis Committee Member, Department of Natural Resource Sciences, Thompson Rivers University

Dr. Brian Wallace (PhD), Range Soil Ecologist and Thesis Committee Member, Ministry of Forests

Dr. David Hill (PhD), Professor and Thesis Committee Member, Department of Natural Resource Sciences and Department of Geography, Thompson Rivers University

© Kyle Gillich, 2023

ABSTRACT

Forest harvesting systems may be strategically designed to manipulate snow accumulation and soil moisture, not only to improve forage and timber productivity, but also to improve flood, wildfire and climate change mitigation. The objectives of this study were to investigate differences in snow accumulation, snow ablation, and soil moisture across various widths of commercial strip-thinning in silvopasture systems. Silvopastures were established near Kelowna, British Columbia, Canada. Stands of 45year-old Pinus contorta (lodgepole pine) were commercially thinned in the summer of 2018. Strip-harvest treatments were linear and of various widths: 10 m, 15 m, and 20 m. Treatments were allocated in a two-factor randomized block design; strip width and orientation. Adjacent forested areas and a clearcut were also examined as controls. Strips were harvested with either east-west, or north-south orientations. Snow water equivalent was manually sampled during winters of 2019-2020. From May 2019 to October 2020, volumetric water content was continuously sampled at two depths (0-10 cm and 25 cm below the soil surface) and soil temperature was continuously measured at 5 cm depth. Snow accumulation increased with strip-width, and 20 m strips retained a mean peak accumulation of SWE which was 11.4 % greater than the clearcut (P=0.001). Snow accumulation and ablation-rates were directly associated with canopy cover and estimated solar radiation. The widest 20 m strips maintained greater soil moisture and soil temperatures throughout the growing season, compared to the narrower 10 m strips (P<0.001). However, 10 m strips did retain more soil moisture during drier months with limited precipitation (P<0.001), and strips orientated east-west retained the most soil moisture. Soil temperature was greater in both 10 m and 20 m strips compared to forested areas. This resulted in greater cumulative growing degree days (GDD) above the critical threshold of 5 °C in strips relative to non-harvested areas. Overall, strip-thinning and orientation of strips directly influenced snow accumulation, ablation dynamics, soil moisture, and temperature.

Keywords: agroforestry, silvopasture, strip, thin, snow, soil moisture

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Supervisor:

Lauchlan Fraser, Ph.D., NSERC Industrial Research Chair in Ecosystem Reclamation, TRU

Committee:

Tom Pypker, Ph.D., Professor, TRU David Hill, Ph.D., Professor, TRU Brian Wallace, Ph.D., Range Soil Ecologist, BC MFLRNORD

Research partners:

Lisa Zabek, Ph.D., P.Ag., Agroforestry, BC Ministry of Agriculture Harold Hetherington, P.Ag., Range Agrologist, BC MFLRNORD Kevin Derow, RPF, Stewardship Forester, BC MFLRNORD Grant Glessing, RPF, Woodlands Manager, Tolko Industries Inc. Kevin Boon, General Manager, BC Cattlemen's Association Beef Cattle Research Council

Special thanks to:

Colleagues and the Fraser Lab at TRU Trevor Blenner-Hassett, Ph.D., Forestec Forestry Consulting John Church, Ph.D., Associate Professor, TRU Rita Winkler, Ph.D., RPF, BC MoFLRNOR

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	x
List of Acronyms	xiii
1.0 Chapter 1 – General Introduction	1
1.1 Silvopasture	1
1.2 Range & Livestock	6
1.3 Timber	7
1.4 Research Questions	
1.5 Literature Cited	
2.0 Chapter 2 - Influence of commercial strip-thinning, of various widths,	on snow
accumulation and timing of snow disappearance in lodgepole pine silvopastur	es on the
Okanagan Plateau of southern British Columbia	19
2.1 Introduction	19
2.2 Materials & Methods	22
Site Description	22
Silvopasture & Commercial Strip-thinning Treatments	22
Climate	23
Snow	24
Canopy Cover & Solar Radiation	25
Data Analysis	27
2.3 Results	
Site Characteristics and Climate	
Snow Accumulation	29
Snow Ablation Rates	31
Snow Disappearance	32
Solar Radiation	33
2.4 Discussion	
Snow Accumulation	
Snow Ablation Rates	39
Management Implications	41
2.5 Conclusion	
2.6 Literature Cited	
3.0 Chapter 3 – Influence of commercial strip-thinning, of various widths	, on soil
moisture and temperature in lodgepole pine Silvopastures on the Okanagan P	lateau of
southern British Columbia	
3.1 Introduction	49
3.2 Materials & Methods	

	Site Description	
	Silvopasture & Commercial Strip-thinning Treatments	53
	Climate	53
	Physical Soil Characteristics	53
	Soil Organic Matter	54
	Soil Bulk Density	54
	Soil Moisture & Temperature	56
	Data Analysis	57
3.	3 Results	58
	Climate	58
	Soil Classification	58
	Soil Organic Matter	60
	Bulk Density	61
	Soil Moisture	61
	Soil Temperature	64
3.	4 Discussion	65
	Implications	68
3.	5 Conclusion	70
3.	6 Literature Cited	71
4.0	Chapter 4 – Management Implications & Future Research	
4.	1 Literature Cited	82
5.0	Appendix A	87
6.0	Appendix B	89
7.0	Appendix C	
8.0	Appendix D	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. A summary of proposed criteria for selection of successful agroforestrysystems on Crown land in British Columbia, Canada.2
Table 2. Summary of climatic variables observed during a period between peak snow accumulation and total snow disappearance (March 1 – May 15) in 2019/2020 at the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project. Snow water equivalent (SWE); snow water density (SWD); cumulative degree days greater than 0°C (CDD >0°C)
Table 4. The number of days between peak snow accumulation and complete snowdisappearance in commercially thinned strips of varying widths (10, 15, 20m) in theGoudie Agroforestry Pilot Project during snowmelt of 2019 and 2020. Snow wasmeasured in the center of the harvested strips. Means were compared with a Games-Howell post-hoc test. NS= north-south, EW=east-west.32
Table 5. The number of days between peak snow accumulation and complete snowdisappearance in leave-strips of commercially thinned stands of varying widths (20, 30,40m) in the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project during snowmelt of 2019 and 2020. Snowwas measured in the center of the leave-strips. Means were compared with a Games-Howell post-hoc test. NS= north-south, EW=east-west33
Table 6. Results of Games-Howell pairwise comparison test used to determine effects of treatments on estimated transmitted direct radiation (MJ/m ² /d) in harvested strips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m). Strip-width of harvested strips and strip-orientation were fixed independent variables. NS = north-south, EW = east-west
Table 7. Means of percent sand, silt, and clay compositions of soil samples taken atdepths of 5 and 25 cm, from holes immediately adjacent to soil moisture monitoringstations (N=30)
Table 8. Results of Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests of clay composition insoils of three treatments (non-harvested controls, 10 m, and 20 m harvested strips), attwo depths (5 and 25 cm), sampled one-year post-harvest (2019).60

Table E. 3. Summary of dead forest floor litter volume by treatment. Summaryincludes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), andsample size (n).95

Table E. 4. Summary of dead forest floor litter mass by treatment. Summary includesstandard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and samplesize (n).95

Table E. 5. Summary of the depth of dead forest floor fermented and humic organic soillayers (FH) by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE),95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).96

Table F. 2. Snow ablation rates for 2019, summarized by transect (n=10). Snow was sampled between March 3 – May 5. Ablation was calculated by the difference in snow water equivalent (SWE) from the previous sample period divided by the number of days between sampling (cm/day). Average ablation rate was taken as an average of all of the

Table F. 6. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of days

 between snow disappearance observed in all treatments in 2019.

 103

Table F. 7. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of daysbetween snow disappearance observed in all treatments in 2020.104

Table F. 10. Results of a Games-Howell pairwise comparison test used to determineeffects of treatments on estimated transmitted direct radiation ($MJ/m^2/d$) in harvestedstrips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m). Strip-width ofharvested strips and strip-orientation were fixed independent variables. NS = north-south, EW = east-west107

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 6. Nonlinear regression models of estimated transmitted direct radiation at snow measurement locations in the center of harvested strips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m), plotted by distance from forest edge as a percentage of the average height of surrounding trees ($\bar{x} = 18.7$ m), and by strip orientation (east-west vs north-south). North-south Y = -8.6 e^{-0.014 X} + 9.5, R²=0.97, P<0.001. East-west Y = -9.7 e^{-0.0065 X} + 11, R²=0.97, P<0.001.

Figure 14. Surface soil (0-10 cm depth) volumetric water content continuously measured in the center of 10 and 20 m harvested strips and non-harvested control from June 1, 2019, to September 1, 2020. VWC units are a fraction of water volume measured in m³/m³. Data includes observations from both north-south and east-west orientated strips of the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project (n=10). Shaded ribbons are 95% Cl...... 62

Figure C. 3. Photos of snow pack observed simultaneously on May 1, 2019 at
12:00pm on permanently installed trail cameras. Delayed snow disappearance in east-
west orientated strips, compared to north-south orientated strips. Snow has
disappeared in forested areas and leave-strips91

LIST OF ACRONYMS

- AAC: Annual allowable cut
- AUM: Animal unit month
- **BEC:** Biogeoclimatic (ie. Biogeoclimatic Zone)
- FC: Field capacity
- **GDD:** Growing degree days
- **IFM:** Intensive forest management
- **LLWR:** Least-limiting water range
- **MS:** Montane Spruce (ie. Montane Spruce Biogeoclimatic Zone)
- **PWP:** Permanent wilting point
- **SOM**: Soil organic matter
- **SWE:** Snow water equivalent
- **TSA:** Timber supply area
- **UWR:** Ungulated winter range
- **VWC:** Volumetric water content

1.0 CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 SILVOPASTURE

The first assumption in the discussion of strategic forest and range planning is that sustainability is a universal objective. The concept of sustainable forest practices can be defined from three perspective pillars: environmental, social, and economical (Hansmann et al. 2012). Sustainable resource management involves the improvement of environmental stewardship, in combination with long-term promotion of socioeconomic values (Mann et al. 2018). Maintenance of economies, cultures, and quality of life constitute the socio-economic pillars (Purvis et al. 2019). However, the long-term availability of resources for future generations, such as timber and rangeland, depend on all three conceptual pillars of sustainability. Only with the promotion of healthy and resilient ecosystems, can we maintain the longevity of our land and resources. Beyond the resources for immediate sale, are the resources and ecological processes on which life and productivity depend on, including: climate, habitat, soil, water, sunlight, and nutrients. Forest management strategies are becoming increasingly complex as the number of land-uses continue to increase and management objectives evolve (Fox 2000). In order to remain effective, successful forest practices and policies are required to adapt more quickly than the rate of climate change and must also adapt more quickly than the decline of available resources (Hannah et al. 2015). Integrated resource management strategies, such as silvopastures, have the potential to satisfy some of these objectives.

Mixed approaches, incorporating both fine and coarse-scale strategies, can help satisfy the wide range of integrated objectives involved in sustainable forest management. Agroforestry is one form of integrated resource management that has the potential to help satisfy multiple levels of objectives, from site-level to watershed scales (Anderson et al. 2008; Udawatta et al. 2011). Silvopasture, and other intensive forms of

forest management, may help optimize the use of resources, such as water, sunlight, and soil nutrients (Rodriguez-Rigueiro et al. 2021).

Silvopasture is an agroforestry system designed to integrate timber, forage, and livestock production on the same land base (Bhardwaj et al. 2018). There are several forms of silvopasture used in temperate climates (Jose et al. 2019). Selections of suitable systems are primarily dependent on climate, vegetation communities, crop choice, natural disturbance regimes, and management objectives. In British Columbia (B.C.), Canada, silvopasture systems on provincial tenure should be selected for benefits which meet several criteria (**Table 1**).

Table 1. A summary of proposed criteria for selection of successful agroforestry systems on Crown land in British Columbia, Canada.

Criteria	References
Enhance environmental stewardship with sustainable resource management.	(Jose 2009; Elevitch et al. 2018)
Satisfy, or exceed, objectives of the Forest Act and Forest and Range Practices Act.	(Forest Act 1996; FRPA 2004)
Optimize value(s) of land use, such as forage availability and merchantable timber volume.	(Sharrow et al. 2009)
Contribute to carbon sequestration and climate change mitigation.	(Kim et al. 2016)
Promote resiliency to climate change and ecological disturbances	(Nitschke and Innes 2008)
Align with ecosystem restoration and wildfire risk reduction objectives	(Rodriguez-Rigueiro et al. 2021)

Demand for alternative forest harvesting methods is at an all-time high in Canada and is increasing globally (Fox 2000; Puettmann et al. 2015; Halofsky et al. 2018). Availability of first-growth timber supply is expected to decline before reliance will shift entirely onto replanted stands (BC Government 2019). Extensive harvesting, failed silviculture systems, climate change, insect damage, fungal pathogens, and wildfires have severely reduced timber supply in the interior of B.C. (Kurz et al. 2008; Alfaro et al. 2015; BC Government 2018, 2019). The amount of timber being hauled out of B.C forests has been declining since 2006, as beetle-killed salvage logging has declined. Most timber supply areas (TSA) are currently experiencing major decreases in annual allowable cut (AAC). Forecasts have projected declining trends in AAC, well into the future (BC Government 2019).

In B.C., the forest industry is highly dependent on public resources and unceded territory, which come with inherent costs of environmental stewardship. A shift to more intensive forest management may be one solution to a number of challenges arising in the industry. Intensive forest management strategies, such as thinning, pruning and fertilization, are designed to increase timber productivity while simultaneously satisfying additional land-use objectives, such as water and soil conservation (Fox 2000; Insley et al. 2002; Sing et al. 2018; Augustynczik et al. 2019). Economists are advocating for the development of more sustainable, investment-based industries (Insley et al. 2002; BCBC 2009; Baumgartner 2019; Sotirov et al. 2019). There has been an increasing number of incentives for intensive forest management, as timber supplies are diminished and the cost of lumber has reached unprecedented prices.

Forestry and cattle ranching have been two major industries both utilizing forested Crown land in B.C. for over a century. Cattle ranching has been a critical industry in B.C. since 1846 (McLean 1972). B.C.'s timber industry contributes approximately 19.6 % of the provincial GDP, or \$12.94 billion (BC Council of Forest Industries 2016). Whereas, B.C.'s beef cattle industry contributes roughly 0.25 % of the provincial GDP, or up to \$600 million annually (BC Cattlemen Association 2021). Strategic intensive forest management strategies have been shown to integrate these two industries on the same land base, increasing productivity and yield of both resources (Lindgren et al. 2017). There is a global push for optimization of multiple values on the land base and diversification of economies (Jose et al. 2019). Integrated land uses can promote

cooperative stewardship and provide alternative strategies for managing ecological disturbances and effects of climate change (Mosquera-Losada et al. 2018).

Silvopasture systems have been globally recognized as a successful strategy to increase productivity and yield of trees, crops, and livestock (Verma et al. 2017). Some systems have been observed to increase timber quality, while simultaneously benefitting the beef cattle industry, sustaining additional economies, and providing interim cash-flow between timber harvests (Klopfenstein et al. 1997). Silvopastures also have the potential to be more environmentally ethical and sustainable, therefore more socially acceptable than conventional practices, such as: high-grading, large clearcuts, or slash-and-burn agriculture (Torralba et al. 2016; Jose et al. 2019).

Numerous environmental benefits have been observed in silvopasture systems compared to conventional practices alone (Pent 2020). Forests are globally recognized as successful carbon-sinks, estimated to sequester about 30 % of global annual carbon emissions (Hoberg et al. 2016). The majority of carbon sequestered by trees is stored above ground; whereas, the majority of carbon in grasslands is stored in roots belowground (Nilsson and Schopfhauser 1995; Soussana et al. 2006). Strategic agroforestry systems, with progressive management, have the potential to sequester more carbon both above and belowground and improve soil carbon processes (Sharrow and Ismail 2004; Nair et al. 2009; Pent 2020). The integration of silviculture and agriculture has the potential to provide synergistic benefits, which neither practice can provide alone.

Successful agroforestry systems are designed to optimize the use of environmental resources, such as: water, nutrients, and solar radiation (Yunusa et al. 1995). The optimal use of resources on any given site results in less nutrient loss from the land and more efficient use of available water (Boyer and Neel; Michel et al. 2007; Pent 2020). Tree cover naturally provides ecosystems some resiliency to climatic extremes, while also providing shelter and shade for livestock (Orefice et al. 2017). Silvopastures can also be designed to promote biodiversity, which indirectly improves ecological resiliency and

resistance to climatic, pathogenic anomalies, or insect infestations (Lawrence et al. 1992; Jose et al. 2019). Seeding of multiple agronomic species, in combination with optimal grazing strategies, has been observed to improve the accumulation of soil carbon by increasing understory biomass, increasing biodiversity, and increasing root production (Frank et al. 1995). Strategic range management and rotational grazing plans, can improve forage productivity, improve plant regrowth after grazing, and improve soil organic carbon (Sanderman et al. 2015). Therefore, silvopastures have the potential to facilitate improved soil development, compared to conventional forest harvesting methods (Alemu et al. 2019). When coupled with greater productivity and economic yield, the environmental sustainability of silvopasture systems makes these practices more socially acceptable (Pent 2020).

Provincial Forest Planning and Practices Regulations hold licensees accountable for the conservation of site productivity and long-term sustainability (FRPA 2004). Silviculture practices have evolved over time to increase site productivity, which have involved trials and implementation of slash burning, thinning, pruning, fertilization, and pre-planting site preparation (BC Government 2003). Pre-commercial thinning involves the removal of young non-merchantable timber. Whereas, commercial thinning removes merchantable timber that has value associated with it and can therefore be sold to recuperate costs of the thinning treatment. Both types of thinning have been shown to increase overstory and understory productivity with accelerated succession in forest regeneration (Sullivan and Sullivan 2016). Increased herbaceous cover has been observed up to 25 years post-thinning, increasing the availability of natural forage for both cattle and wildlife (Sullivan and Sullivan 2016; Lindgren et al. 2017). Commercial thinning of mid-rotation trees with interim grass-seeding and livestock grazing has been trialed in this study as an agroforestry pilot project. Silvopastures have the potential to achieve multiple land-use objectives, while progressing the norms of sustainable forest management.

1.2 RANGE & LIVESTOCK

Rangeland includes all non-cultivated land that produces natural forage for wildlife and livestock (Campbell and Bawtree 1998). Forested range is the largest range type in B.C., which accounts for 90 % of all rangeland in the province (BC Government 1996). The remaining 10 % is divided between grasslands, meadows, wetlands, riparian zones, and alpine areas. Forage productivity across all rangeland is primarily determined by climates, soils, and vegetation communities.

In B.C., the Montane Spruce (MS) biogeoclimatic zones range from 1000 to 1700 m in elevation (Hope at al. 1991). These areas receive mean annual precipitation of 380 to 900 mm (Hope et al. 1991). Depending on the timing of snow disappearance, green-up and elevational gradients, these zones provide critical summer range for livestock from June to September (Wikeem et al. 1993). Calamagrostis rubescens (Pinegrass) often dominates the understory, which is a less desirable forage for ungulates and livestock (McLean 1967; Willms et al. 1980; Wikeem et al. 1993; Powell et al. 1994). Pinegrass is a source of nutrients and crude protein for cattle in early summer, but quickly loses nutritive value becoming unpalatable by mid-late summer (McLean 1967; Willms et al. 1980). Harvested forests can be seeded with agronomic mixes of higher nutritive content, including species such as, orchard grass (Dactylis glomerata L.), white clover (Trifolium hybridum), and wheatgrasses (Wikeem et al. 1993). In harvested openings, agronomic seeding has been overserved to produce 70 % more forage than unseeded areas (Wikeem et al. 1993). This not only contributes to increased animal unit months (AUM), the provincial standard in quantifying livestock forage, but increased yield of palatable grasses also helps maintain abundance and continuity of essential wildlife habitats (Nitschke and Innes 2008).

Alternative timber harvesting methods integrated with range management, as silvopasture, may provide opportunities of redesigning landscapes and vegetation to help achieve provincial objectives of biodiversity, carbon sequestration, productivity, and water management. Modification of tree cover in strips of different widths and

orientations is expected to influence the snowpack, snow disappearance, timing of vegetative growth, and available moisture on the site. Such integrated management strategies have the potential to optimize productivity, by optimizing efficient use of resources, such as water, sunlight, and soil nutrients.

1.3 TIMBER

Lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) has been relied on as a primary species for replanting harvested sites since the 1960s (Wu et al. 2005). However, the province of B.C. has experienced four massive outbreaks of mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) in the last century (Taylor and Carroll 2003). Planting of lodgepole seedlings was substantially increased in the 1990's, as there was a provincial shift in silviculture practices that encouraged the reliance on planting of lodgepole pine due to the species hardiness and quick growth (Johnstone and van Thienen 2011). Nearly one billion lodgepole pine seedlings were planted in B.C., between 1999 to 2008 (Johnstone and van Thienen 2011).

Mountain pine beetle epidemics have been partially attributed to warming winter temperatures and the lack of extreme cold, which can naturally limit bark beetle populations. Mountain pine beetle prefers to attack mature trees, typically over the age of 40 years old (Amman et al. 1988; Amman and Logan 1998). Stressed trees, due to drought or nutrient deficiencies, are more susceptible to attack (Waring and Pitman 1983). There have been substantial efforts to harvest mid-rotation pine stands as they reach that age of susceptibility or recent beetle attack; this is known as one type of salvage logging that occurs within the province (FBP 2020).

Salvage logging with regards to bark beetles is often socially accepted; however, there has been a trend of licensees harvesting younger trees across the province regardless of species (Burton 2010). Younger stands are being harvested more frequently due to reduced timber supply and increased demand. Between 2007 and 2014, 24 % of all harvested timber did not satisfy minimum harvest criteria within the coastal timber supply area (FPB 2018). Minimum harvest criteria (MHC) outline conditions that must be satisfied prior to timber being harvested (FPB 2018). These criteria recommend minimum age, volume, or diameter in each timber supply area (TSA). These criteria prevent the harvest of young stands below culmination age, or below the age of maximum sustainable yield. Mid-rotation harvests are occurring more frequently as large diameter timber becomes less accessible and smaller diameter timber increases in value. Practices of harvesting young timber require alternative management strategies to maintain sustainable long-term timber supply (FPB 2018). Existing stands are also continually threatened by environmental and ecological disturbances, such as climate change, insects, and wildfires.

Climate change has been observed to be a major driver of fungal pathogen and insect outbreaks (Carroll et al. 2003; Whitehead et al. 2004). In B.C., lodgepole pine forests are experiencing the greatest environmental threats to their range of distribution relative to other conifer species (Mathys et al. 2018). Lodgepole pine is widely distributed with a broad fundamental niche, but increasing temperatures are providing favourable conditions for more competitive species, insects, diseases, and wildfires (Mathys et al. 2018; Stevens-Rumann et al. 2018). Besides bark beetle infestations, lodgepole pine stands are also susceptible to Western gull rust (*Endocronartium harknessii*), terminal weevil (*Pissodes terminalis*), and needle cast (*Cyclaneusma*), which can severely reduce merchantable timber volumes (Wu et al. 2005). Pre-commercial thinning and pruning of young lodgepole pine (<20 years old) has been shown to limit outbreaks of the fungal pathogen *Dothistroma* needle blight (*Dothistroma septosporum*) (Whitehead et al. 2004). Commercial thinning has repeatedly been shown to be effective at limiting the spread of these outbreaks, while promoting resistance and resiliency of the stand through changes in microclimate (Whitehead et al. 2004).

Lodgepole pine planted on drier sites are most susceptible to drought stress, disease, and mortality (FBP 2020). A report conducted by the Forest Practices Board (FBP) between 2007-2017, found that 60 % of all cutblocks harvested in the Interior Douglasfir biogeoclimatic zone (IDF), were in "poor and marginal condition" (FBP 2020). The IDF zone has been projected to increase in size by 91 % by the end of the century, as historically wetter regions are anticipated to become drier (FBP 2020). Effects of climate change have been observable within single silviculture rotation periods (80-100 years), or in other words within the lifetime of a harvestable tree. Proactive forest management strategies are anticipating these rapid changes in climate (Aitken et al. 2008; Halofsky et al. 2018; Mathys et al. 2018; Sáenz-Romero et al. 2020).

Forest thinning is one strategy being implemented to improve ecological resiliency to climate change on drier sites (Wang et al. 2019). Thinning of lodgepole pine stands reduces competition for resources, such as light, nutrients, and water (Wang et al. 2019). Thinning also increases the width and length of crowns, as the trees take advantage of available light (Dahms 1971). The increase in radiation to the understory allows seedlings to grow faster in warmer soils (Balisky and Burton 1995). However, spacing lodgepole pine too widely can increase branch growth, thus reducing the quality of merchantable timber (Johnstone and van Thienen 2011). The excessive planting of lodgepole pine, in combination with poor stand health and management, have resulted in many cases of non-merchantable regenerated stands. Thus, strategic thinning and interim-silvopasture may be one solution in mitigating the provinces lodgepole pine situation, while simultaneously helping to achieve other objectives.

In the past, the primary objective of forest management has been the optimization of merchantable timber (Bell et al. 2008). The large area of public forests in Canada led to the development of large management units and an 'extensive' forest management approach. This strategy focuses on the basic requirements of stand regeneration, with focus on species composition and age-class. Large-scale, extensive management also facilitates additional landscape-level objectives pertaining to wildfires and insect mitigation (Bell et al. 2008).

On the other end of the spectrum, 'intensive' forest management (IFM) involves increased investment in silvicultural intensity at the site-level (Bell et al. 2008). IFM aims to improve stand yields, wood quality, and timber value, all while quickening the times for successful rotations. Globally, IFM has been popular in countries where forestry operations occur more often on private land with smaller management areas. Intensive silvicultural practices include: planning, site preparation, thinning, pruning, fertilization, species selection, and any variation of these interventions which produce faster and greater yield. On public lands, intensive forest management can adhere to higher-level plans and strategies facilitating an approach of integrated resource management. In best practice, all plans and operations on individual sites strive to satisfy all overlaying management objectives. Some examples include: watershed conservation, livestock forage, wildlife habitat, recreational value, and fire mitigation.

1.4 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Chapters 2 and 3 describe my research. The overall purpose of this research is to investigate hydrological effects of various widths of commercially strip-thinned silvopastures (ie. 10, 15, 20 m strips). The major question is whether or not there is a relationship between the widths of treatments and the water balance throughout all seasons of the year. The interaction of slope, aspect, and geographical orientation of the strips is also of interest.

In Chapter 2 I investigate responses to strip-thinning treatments in the following variables:

- 1) Snow accumulation.
- 2) Timing of peak snow pack.
- 3) Rates of snow disappearance / ablation.

In Chapter 3 I investigate responses to strip-thinning treatment in the following variables:

- 4) Volumetric soil water content.
- 5) Soil temperature.
- 6) Canopy cover
- 7) Estimated solar radiation

For my final chapter, Chapter 4, I address the management implications of my research.

1.5 LITERATURE CITED

- Aitken SN, Yeaman S, Holliday JA, Wang T, Curtis-McLane S. 2008. Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. Evol Appl. 1(1):95–111. doi:10.1111/J.1752-4571.2007.00013.X. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2007.00013.x.
- Alemu AW, Kröbel R, McConkey BG, Iwaasa AD. 2019. Effect of increasing species diversity and grazing management on pasture productivity, animal performance, and soil carbon sequestration of re-established pasture in Canadian Prairie. Animals. 9(4):127. doi:10.3390/ani9040127. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. /pmc/articles/PMC6523940/.
- Alfaro RI, Akker L Van, Hawkes B. 2015. Characteristics of forest legacies following two mountain pine beetle outbreaks in British Columbia, Canada. Can J For Res. 45(10):1387–1396. doi:10.1139/cjfr-2015-0042.
- Amman GD, Logan JA. 1998. Silvicultural control of mountain pine beetle: Prescriptions and the influence of microclimate. Am Entomol. 44(3):166–178. doi:10.1093/ae/44.3.166.
- Amman GD, McGregor MD, Schmitz RF, Oakes RD. 1988. Susceptibility of lodgepole pine to infestation by mountain pine beetles following partial cutting of stands. Can J For Res. 18(6):688–695. doi:10.1139/x88-105.
- Anderson SH, Udawatta RP, Seobi T, Garrett HE. 2008. Soil water content and infiltration in agroforestry buffer strips. Agrofor Syst. 75(1):5–16. doi:10.1007/S10457-008-9128-3. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-008-9128-3.
- Augustynczik ALD, Asbeck T, Basile M, Bauhus J, Storch I, Mikusiński G, Yousefpour R, Hanewinkel M. 2019. Diversification of forest management regimes secures tree microhabitats and bird abundance under climate change. Sci Total Environ. 650:2717–2730. doi:10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.09.366.
- Balisky AC, Burton PJ. 1995. Root-zone soil temperature variation associated with microsite characteristics in high-elevation forest openings in the interior of British Columbia. Agric For Meteorol. 77(1–2):31–54. doi:10.1016/0168-1923(95)02235-P.
- Baumgartner RJ. 2019. Sustainable Development Goals and the Forest Sector—A Complex Relationship. 10(2):152. doi:10.3390/F10020152. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/10/2/152/htm.
- [BCBC] Business Council of BC. [Internet]. 2009. Vancouver (BC): Woodbridge Associates. [updated 2009 Oct; cited 2019 Mar 03]. Available from: http://www.woodbridgeassociates.com/pdf/whatsnew/Opportunity_2020_Forest_In dustry_Paper.pdf

- BC Cattlemen Association. 2021. BC Beef Cattle Industry. [accessed 2021 Jun 24]. https://www.cattlemen.bc.ca/industry.htm.
- [BC Government] Ministry of Forests. 1996. [updated 2000 Mar 10; cited 2019 Feb 01]. Available from: https://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/docs/bro/bro46.pdf
- [BC Government] British Columbia Ministry of Forests. 2003. Silviculture Systems Handbook for British Columbia. Victoria (BC): Forests Practices Branch.
- [BC Government] Ministry of Forests, Lands, and Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development. [Internet]. 2018. Victoria (BC): Government of British Columbia. [2018 Feb; cited 2019 Mar 02]. Available from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-andindustry/forestry/stewardship/forest-analysis-inventory/impacts 2017 fires.pdf
- [BC Government] Ministry of Forests, Lands, and Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development. [Internet]. 2019. Victoria (BC): Government of British Columbia. [2018 Mar 28; cited 2019 Mar 02]. Available from: http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/soe/indicators/land/timber-harvest.html
- Bell FW, Parton J, Stocker N, Joyce D, Reid D, Wester M, Stinson A, Kayahara G, Towill B. 2008. Developing a silvicultural framework and definitions for use in forest management planning and practice. The Forestry Chronicle. 84(5):678-93.
- Bhardwaj DR, Navale MR, Sharma S. 2018. Agroforestry practices in temperate regions of the world. In: Agroforestry: Anecdotal to Modern Science. Springer Singapore. p. 163–187. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-10-7650-3_6.
- Boyer DG, Neel JP. Nitrate and fecal coliform concentration differences at the soil/bedrock interface in Appalachian silvopasture, pasture, and forest. Agroforestry systems. 79(1):89-96.
- Burton PJ. 2010. Striving for sustainability and resilience in the face of unprecedented change: The case of the mountain pine beetle outbreak in British Columbia. Sustainability. 2(8):2403–2423. doi:10.3390/su2082403. [accessed 2021 Jun 30]. www.mdpi.com/journal/sustainabilityArticle.
- Campbell C, Bawtree A. 1998. Rangeland handbook for B.C. British Columbia Cattlemen's Association. [accessed 2022 Apr 13]. https://agris.fao.org/agrissearch/search.do?recordID=US201300036586.
- Carroll A, Régnière J, Logan J, Taylor SW, Powell J. 2003. Impacts of climate change on range expansion by the mountain pine beetle. Paper Technology Commons. [accessed 2020 Dec 18]. http://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/pubwarehouse/pdfs/26601.pdf.
- Dahms WG. 1971. Growth and soil moisture in thinned lodgepole pine. USDA Forest Service Res. Pap. PNW-127, 32 p. Pacific Northw st Forest & Range Experiment Station, Portland, Oregon.

- Elevitch CR, Mazaroli ND, Ragone D. 2018. Agroforestry standards for regenerative agriculture. Sustain. 10(9). doi:10.3390/su10093337.
- Forest Act. 1996. Forest Act (BC). [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96157_00.
- [FPB] Forest Practices Board. 2018. Harvesting of Young Stands in BC –Special Investigation. Victoria (BC): Forest Practices Board.
- [FPB] Forest Practices Board. 2020. Reforestation in the Interior Douglas-fir Subzone: Are Reforestation Choices Meeting Objectives? Victoria (BC): Forest Practices Board.
- Fox TR. 2000. Sustained productivity in intensively managed forest plantations. For Ecol Manage. 138(1–3):187–202. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00396-0.
- Frank AB, Tanaka DL, Hofmann L, Follett RF. 1995. Soil carbon and nitrogen of Northern Great Plains grasslands as influenced by long-term grazing. J Range Manag. 48(5):470–474. doi:10.2307/4002255.
- FRPA. 2004. [FRPA] Forest and Range Practices Act Forest Planning and Practices Regulation. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/14_2004#sectio n6.
- Halofsky JE, Andrews-Key SA, Edwards JE, Johnston MH, Nelson HW, Peterson DL, Schmitt KM, Swanston CW, Williamson TB. 2018. Adapting forest management to climate change: The state of science and applications in Canada and the United States. For Ecol Manage. 421(October 2017):84–97. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.037.
- Hannah L, Flint L, Syphard AD, Moritz MA, Buckley LB, McCullough IM. 2015. Place and process in conservation planning for climate change: A reply to Keppel and Wardell-Johnson. Trends Ecol Evol. 30(5):234–235. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2015.03.008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.03.008.
- Hansmann R, Mieg HA, Frischknecht P. 2012. Principal sustainability components: Empirical analysis of synergies between the three pillars of sustainability. Int J Sustain Dev World Ecol. 19(5):451–459. doi:10.1080/13504509.2012.696220. [accessed 2021 Jun 25]. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13504509.2012.696220.
- Hoberg G, Peterson St-Laurent G, Schittecatte G, Dymond CC. 2016. Forest carbon mitigation policy: A policy gap analysis for British Columbia. For Policy Econ. 69:73–82. doi:10.1016/j.forpol.2016.05.005.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2016.05.005.
- Hope GD, Mitchell WR, Lloyd WR, Harper WL, Wikeem BM. 1991. Montane Spruce Zone.In Meidinger D, Pojar J, eds. Ecosystems of British Columbia. BC Ministry of Forests, Special Report Series 6. Victoria (BC): 183-194

- Insley M, Fox G, Rollins K. 2002. The Economics of Intensive Forest Management A Stand Level Analysis for the Romeo Malette Forest in Ontario 1 2 A Report Prepared for Tembec Inc., the Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, and ULERN.
- Johnstone W, van Thienen F. 2011. The effects of plantation density on the growth and yield of lodgepole pine: 20-year results. Vernon. [accessed 2021 Jun 24]. https://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/En/En102.pdf.
- Jose S. 2009. Agroforestry for ecosystem services and environmental benefits: An overview. Agrofor Syst. 76(1):1–10. doi:10.1007/s10457-009-9229-7. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-009-9229-7.
- Jose S, Walter D, Mohan Kumar B. 2019. Ecological considerations in sustainable silvopasture design and management. Agrofor Syst. 93(1):317–331. doi:10.1007/s10457-016-0065-2. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-016-0065-2.
- Kim DG, Kirschbaum MUF, Beedy TL. 2016. Carbon sequestration and net emissions of CH4 and N2O under agroforestry: Synthesizing available data and suggestions for future studies. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 226:65–78. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.011.
- Klopfenstein N, Rietveld WJ, Carman R, Clason TR, Sharrow SH, Garrett G, Anderson B. 1997. Silvopasture: An Agroforestry Practice. Agrofor Notes. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agroforestnotes/6.
- Kurz WA, Dymond CC, Stinson G, Rampley GJ, Neilson ET, Carroll AL, Ebata T, Safranyik L.
 2008. Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. Nature.
 452(7190):987–990. doi:10.1038/nature06777.
- Lawrence JH, Hardesty LH, Chapman RC, Gill SJ. 1992. Agroforestry practices of nonindustrial private forest landowners in Washington State. Agroforestry systems. 19(1):37-55.
- Lindgren PMF, Sullivan TP, Ransome DB, Sullivan DS, Zabek L. 2017. Long-term influence of stand thinning and repeated fertilization on forage production in young lodgepole pine forests. Can J For Res. 47(8):1123–1130. doi:10.1139/cjfr-2016-0507. [accessed 2021 Jun 24]. https://cdnsciencepub.com/doi/abs/10.1139/cjfr-2016-0507.
- Mann C, Garcia-Martin M, Raymond CM, Shaw BJ, Plieninger T. 2018. The potential for integrated landscape management to fulfil Europe's commitments to the Sustainable Development Goals. Landsc Urban Plan. 177(October 2017):75–82. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.04.017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.04.017.
- Mathys AS, Coops NC, Simard SW, Waring RH, Aitken SN. 2018. Diverging distribution of seedlings and mature trees reflects recent climate change in British Columbia. Ecol

Modell. 384(January):145–153. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2018.06.008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2018.06.008.

- McLean A. 1967. Beef Production on Lodgepole Pine-Pinegrass Range in Southern British Columbia. Rangel Ecol Manag Range Manag. 20(4):214–216. [accessed 2022 Apr 13]. https://journals.uair.arizona.edu/index.php/jrm/article/download/5510/5120.
- McLean A. 1972. Beef Production on Lodgepole Pine-Pinegrass Range in the Cariboo Region of British Columbia. J Range Manag. 25(1):10. doi:10.2307/3896653.
- Michel GA, Nair VD, Nair PKR. 2007. Silvopasture for reducing phosphorus loss from subtropical sandy soils. Plant Soil. 297(1–2):267–276. doi:10.1007/s11104-007-9352-z. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11104-007-9352-z.
- Mosquera-Losada MR, Santiago-Freijanes JJ, Rois-Díaz M, Moreno G, den Herder M, Aldrey-Vázquez JA, Ferreiro-Domínguez N, Pantera A, Pisanelli A, Rigueiro-Rodríguez A. 2018. Agroforestry in Europe: A land management policy tool to combat climate change. Land use policy. 78(June):603–613. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.06.052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.06.052.
- Nair PKR, Nair VD, Kumar BM, Haile SG. 2009. Soil carbon sequestration in tropical agroforestry systems: a feasibility appraisal. Environ Sci Policy. 12(8):1099–1111. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2009.01.010.
- Nilsson S, Schopfhauser W. 1995. The carbon-sequestration potential of a global afforestation program. Clim Change. 30(3):267–293. doi:10.1007/BF01091928. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01091928.
- Orefice J, Carroll D, Conroy L. 2017. Silvopasture practices and perspectives in the Northeastern United States. Agrofor Syst. 91. doi:10.1007/s10457-016-9916-0.
- Pent GJ. 2020. Over-yielding in temperate silvopastures: a meta-analysis. Agrofor Syst. 94(5):1741–1758. doi:10.1007/s10457-020-00494-6. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-020-00494-6.
- Powell GW, Pitt MD, Wikeem BM. 1994. Effect of forage seeding on early growth and survival of lodgepole pine. J Range Manag. 47(5):379–384. doi:10.2307/4002334.
- Puettmann KJ, Wilson SMG, Baker SC, Donoso PJ, Drössler L, Amente G, Harvey BD, Knoke T, Lu Y, Nocentini S, et al. 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional evenaged forest management - What limits global adoption? For Ecosyst. 2(1). doi:10.1186/s40663-015-0031-x.
- Purvis B, Mao Y, Robinson D. 2019. Three pillars of sustainability: in search of conceptual origins. Sustain Sci. 14(3):681–695. doi:10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5.

- Rodriguez-Rigueiro FJ, Santiago-Freijanes JJ, Mosquera-Losada MR, Castro M, Silva-Losada P, Pisanelli A, Pantera A, Rigueiro-Rodriguez A, Ferreiro-Dominguez N. 2021.
 Silvopasture policy promotion in European Mediterranean areas. PLoS One. 16(1 January):e0245846. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0245846. [accessed 2021 May 5]. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245846.
- Sáenz-Romero C, O'neill G, Aitken SN, Lindig-Cisneros R. 2020. Assisted Migration Field Tests in Canada and Mexico: Lessons, Limitations, and Challenges. 12(1):9. doi:10.3390/F12010009. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/12/1/9/htm.
- Sanderman J, Reseigh J, Wurst M, Young MA, Austin J. 2015. Impacts of rotational grazing on soil carbon in native grass-based pastures in southern Australia. PLoS One. 10(8):136157. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136157. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0136157.
- Sharrow S, Brauer D, Clason T, Garrett H. 2009. Silvopastoral practices. In: North American agroforestry. pp. 105–131. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US201300146491.
- Sharrow SH, Ismail S. 2004. Carbon and nitrogen storage in agroforests, tree plantations, and pastures in western Oregon, USA. Agrofor Syst. 60(2):123–130. doi:10.1023/B:AGFO.0000013267.87896.41. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/B:AGFO.0000013267.87896.41.
- Sing L, Metzger MJ, Paterson JS, Ray D. 2018. A review of the effects of forest management intensity on ecosystem services for northern European temperate forests with a focus on the UK. For An Int J For Res. 91(2):151–164. doi:10.1093/FORESTRY/CPX042. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://academic.oup.com/forestry/article/91/2/151/4282674.
- Sotirov M, Sallnäs O, Eriksson LO. 2019. Forest owner behavioral models, policy changes, and forest management. An agent-based framework for studying the provision of forest ecosystem goods and services at the landscape level. For Policy Econ. 103:79–89. doi:10.1016/J.FORPOL.2017.10.015.
- Soussana J-F, Loiseau P, Vuichard N, Ceschia E, Balesdent J, Chevallier T, Arrouays D.
 2006. Carbon cycling and sequestration opportunities in temperate grasslands. Soil Use Manag. 20(2):219–230. doi:10.1111/j.1475-2743.2004.tb00362.x. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1475-2743.2004.tb00362.x.
- Stevens-Rumann CS, Kemp KB, Higuera PE, Harvey BJ, Rother MT, Donato DC, Morgan P, Veblen TT. 2018. Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires under climate change. Ecol Lett. 21(2):243–252. doi:10.1111/ele.12889. [accessed 2021 Jun 22]. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29230936/.

- Sullivan TP, Sullivan DS. 2016. Acceleration of old-growth structural attributes in lodgepole pine forest: Tree growth and stand structure 25 years after thinning. For Ecol Manage. 365:96–106. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2016.01.029. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.01.029.
- Taylor SW, Carroll AL. 2003. Disturbance, Forest Age, and Mountain Pine Beetle Outbreak Dynamics in BC: A Historical Perspective. [accessed 2021 Jun 30]. www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfp/FORSITE/overview/webmap.htm;
- Torralba M, Fagerholm N, Burgess PJ, Moreno G, Plieninger T. 2016. Do European agroforestry systems enhance biodiversity and ecosystem services? A meta-analysis. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 230:150–161. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2016.06.002.
- Udawatta RP, Garrett HE, Kallenbach R. 2011. Agroforestry Buffers for Nonpoint Source Pollution Reductions from Agricultural Watersheds. J Environ Qual. 40(3):800–806. doi:10.2134/JEQ2010.0168. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2134/jeq2010.0168.
- Verma P, Bijalwan A, Dobriyal MJR, Swamy SL, Thakur TK. 2017. A paradigm shift in agroforestry practices in Uttar Pradesh. Curr Sci. 112(3):509–516. doi:10.18520/cs/v112/i03/509-516. [accessed 2021 Jun 29]. http://www.ischolar.in/index.php/CURS/article/view/136178.
- Wang Y, Wei X, del Campo AD, Winkler R, Wu J, Li Q, Liu W. 2019. Juvenile thinning can effectively mitigate the effects of drought on tree growth and water consumption in a young Pinus contorta stand in the interior of British Columbia, Canada. For Ecol Manage. 454(May). doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117667.
- Waring RH, Pitman GB. 1983. Physiological stress in lodgepole pine as a precursor for mountain pine beetle attack. Zeitschrift für Angew Entomol. 96(1–5):265–270. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0418.1983.tb03668.x. [accessed 2021 Jun 30]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1983.tb03668.x.
- Whitehead R, Safranyik L, Russo G, Shore T. 2004. Silviculture to reduce landscape and stand susceptibility to the mountain pine beetle. In Mountain pine beetle symposium: Challenges and solutions. pp. 233-244. [accessed 2020 Dec 18]. https://feu.scf.rncan.gc.ca/publications?id=25052.
- Wikeem BM, Mclean A, Quinton D, Bawtree A. 1993. An overview of the forage resource and beef production on Crown land in British Columbia. Can J Anim Sci. 73(4):779– 794. doi:10.4141/cjas93-081.
- Willms W, McLean A, Tucker R, Ritcey R. 1980. Deer and cattle diets on summer range in British Columbia. Rangel Ecol Manag Range Manag. 33(1):55–59. [accessed 2022 Apr 13]. https://journals.uair.arizona.edu/index.php/jrm/article/viewFile/7013/6623.

- Wu HX, Ying CC, Ju H-B. 2005. Predicting site productivity and pest hazard in lodgepole pine using biogeoclimatic system and geographic variables in British Columbia. Ann For Sci.(62):31–42. doi:10.1051/forest:2004089.
- Yunusa IAM, Mead DJ, Pollock KM, Lucas RJ. 1995. Process studies in a Pinus radiatapasture agroforestry system in a subhumid temperature environment. Water use and light interception in the third year. Agrofor Syst. 32(2):163–183. doi:10.1007/BF00711571.

2.0 CHAPTER 2 - INFLUENCE OF COMMERCIAL STRIP-THINNING, OF VARIOUS WIDTHS, ON SNOW ACCUMULATION AND TIMING OF SNOW DISAPPEARANCE IN LODGEPOLE PINE SILVOPASTURES ON THE OKANAGAN PLATEAU OF SOUTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In snow-dominated watersheds, snow accumulation and dynamics of disappearance are critical to ecological water budgets, human water supplies, and flood mitigation strategies (Winkler et al. 2005; Merritt et al. 2006; Harma et al. 2012). Water volumes contributed by snowpack, snowmelt timing, and water storage are influenced by disturbances, such as timber harvesting, that alter canopy cover and netevapotranspiration (Pike et al. 2008; Brekke et al. 2009; Islam et al. 2019; Winkler et al. 2021). Snow processes are vulnerable to rapidly changing climatic variables, such as temperatures and precipitation, and further interactions occur at the site-specific level with slope, terrain, solar radiation, and altered canopy cover (Winkler et al. 2014; DeBeer and Pomeroy 2017; Dickerson-Lange et al. 2017). Alternative timber harvesting strategies, such as commercial thinning, may be strategically designed to help conserve ecological values and freshwater systems.

Leaders in water management and hydrological research mostly agree there are knowledge-gaps in the understanding of many hydrological processes at the watershed scale (Lapp et al. 2015; Scherer et al. 2018). Topics of greatest concern in the drought and flood-prone Thompson-Okanagan region of British Columbia, Canada include: total water budgets, effects of forest harvesting, climate change, snow monitoring, and volumes and timing of peak stream flows (Lapp et al. 2015). Most approaches to progressive watershed governance share the fundamental objectives of sustainability, conservation, and ultimately gaining control of above and below-ground water flows to satisfy all other objectives (Pike et al. 2010; Brandes and O'Riordan 2014; Lapp et al. 2015; Scherer et al. 2018). We do have the knowledge and ability to manipulate forest structure in attempts to control hydrological processes, while paying particular attention to the terrain and aspect on which that forest structure is altered.

Snow water equivalent (SWE) is commonly used to discuss the size of the snowpack. SWE represents the depth of liquid water that would drain from a completely melted snowpack. Snow ablation, or disappearance, is often the result of multiple unique processes, which include: melt, sublimation, evaporation, and wind drift (Winkler et al. 2005, DeWalle and Rango 2008). Snow melt is defined as liquid water drained from the snowpack, as snow changes from solid phase to liquid (DeWalle and Rango 2008). The temperature of the snowpack is influenced by ground heat flux, longwave/shortwave radiation fluxes, or fluxes due to additional precipitation such as rain. Latent heat is absorbed during energy fluxes and is released as water is drained from the snowpack. Sublimation involves the direct phase change of solid to gas, with sufficient latent heat flux (DeWalle and Rango 2008). Evaporation may occur when the snowpack approximates 0°C, when water is present, and the atmospheric vapour pressure is less than the saturation vapour pressure of the melting snow surface (DeWalle and Rango 2008). Additionally, snow may disappear from a permanent sampling location due to wind transport.

Snow accumulation, ablation-rate, and timing of disappearance are critical processes that we can gain greater understanding and control over in order to improve forest management (Jost et al. 2007). At the landscape-level, peak snow water equivalent (SWE) and ablation-rates have high spatial variability due to dependence on environmental factors, such as latitude, elevation, and climate. At the site-level, the snowpack is further influenced by slope, aspect, terrain, and tree density or canopy cover (Winkler et al. 2005; Jost et al. 2007; DeBeer and Pomeroy 2017; Dickerson-Lange et al. 2017; Winkler et al. 2017).

Larger canopy openings have been consistently correlated with greater snow accumulation and faster rates of snow disappearance (D'Eon 2004; Winkler et al. 2005; Woods et al. 2006; Veatch et al. 2009). This is explained by increased forest cover

resulting in increased interception loss and decreased solar radiation exchanged with the surface of the snowpack (Faria et al. 2000; Pomeroy et al. 2001; Pomeroy et al. 2002). Therefore, wider gaps in the canopy allow more throughfall of snow and more net-radiation to be absorbed by the snowpack.

Open clearcuts have been observed to have 37-75 % greater peak SWE, and 2.4 times greater rates of disappearance, compared to mature forests (Winkler et al. 2005). Wider strip-harvest treatments are expected to accumulate more snow; however, edge effects have been observed to a have a limited influence within a distance approximate to the height of surrounding trees (Spittlehouse et al. 2004). This edge effect has been observed to interact with the aspect and orientation of the forest edge. In the northern hemisphere, ablations are shaded to their north or exposed to sunlight to their south. Sunlight can also penetrate further into the sides south-facing forest edges, providing solar radiation deeper into the stand (Spittlehouse et al. 2004).

Snow ablation in mature forests is believed to be nearly 100 % influenced by net solar radiation; whereas, radiation in clearcuts only accounts for about 75 % of the disappearance (Spittlehouse et al. 2004). This suggests that larger openings are exposed to greater losses attributed to evaporation and sublimation (Winkler et al. 2005; Woods et al. 2006). In combination with greater net-radiation reaching the snow surface, wider openings experience faster rates of disappearance.

Objectives of this study were to investigate how different strip-thinning widths influenced total snow accumulation, snow disappearance rates, and time to total snow disappearance, in both harvested and reserve strips. Interactions between various stripwidths and strip-aspect were also investigated in this study. For all of these observations within the strip-thinning treatments, it is important to acknowledge the edge-effects associated with observing snowpacks along a forest edge (within a tree length of surrounding trees).

2.2 MATERIALS & METHODS

Site Description

The Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project (GAPP) was an operational-scale silvopasture experiment designed to integrate commercial strip-thinning of timber with interim forage and range for cattle. The blocks were located 20 km east of Kelowna, BC (49.941°, -119.243°), with a mean elevation of 1375 m (**Figure 1**). These sites were within the Okanagan Dry Mild Montane Spruce Biogeoclimatic-variant (BGC)(MSdm1) with site series ranging from 03-06 (Lloyd et al. 1990; Curran et al. 2000). Previously logged in 1977, the stands were replanted with 100 % *Pinus contorta* (lodgepole pine). The stands were 45 years old at the time of harvest, between March and July 2018.



Figure 1. Map of research sites: Block A (strips orientated north-south), Block B (strips orientated east-west), and a clearcut, which are part the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project, were commercially thinned in summer 2018.

Silvopasture & Commercial Strip-thinning Treatments

The randomized block design included two blocks, which each received four treatments: commercial strip-thinning of widths 10 m, 15m, and 20 m, and a nonharvested control. Between the harvested strips, the width of non-harvested leavestrips are approximately twice the width of adjacent harvested openings. Therefore, each treatment contained two nested parts: harvested strips and leave-strips of proportional widths (i.e., 10 m harvested strip = 20 m reserve strip, 20 m harvested strip = 40 m reserve strip) (**Figure 2**). An adjacent clearcut was also used as a control, which had dimensions of 100 m x 200 m (2 ha). All blocks and controls received treatments during the same year, so stands were the same age.

Additional factors included ground slope and aspect. Block A had strips harvested in north-south orientations; whereas, strips in Block B were in an east-west orientation. Slopes varied between 5 - 12 %.



Figure 2. Simplified diagram of three commercial strip-thinning treatments of varying harvest widths: 10, 15, and 20 m. Leave-strips (reserves) were twice as wide as adjacent harvest openings. Actual treatments did not alternate as depicted in the diagram; several strips of the same width were cut in treatment units as seen in Figure 1.

A map of snow sampling locations can be found in Appendix D (Figure D.1.).

Climate

A climate station was installed in the clearcut. A tipping-bucket rain gauge (HOBO RG3-M) was mounted 1.5 m above ground, which continuously measured and recorded rainfall with a datalogger (HOBO UA-003-64). An air temperature sensor (HOBO S-TMB-M002) was also mounted 1.5 m above ground with a solar radiation shield (HOBO M-RSA) and continuously recorded every 30 min with a datalogger (HOBO H21-USB).
Three nearest weather stations, owned and operated by the Government of B.C., were used to determine average windspeed and direction on the plateau: Kettle 2 (1341 m), Beaverdell (807 m), and Idabell 3 (1300 m).

Snow

Snow depth and snow water equivalent (SWE) were measured for two consecutive years (2019-2020). Measurements began at peak snow accumulation, immediately before anticipated melt. Spot forecasts (SpotWx 2019) and two regional automated snow measurement stations were monitored for accurate timing of peak snowpack (Mission Creek & Penticton Creek). Snowpacks were measured on two or three-week intervals and the frequency of measurements increased to every 6-8 days as complete disappearance approached.

Sampling followed a systematic stratified design. Each treatment, in each block, received 10 samples. In total, there were 160 sampling locations. Strips in the center of each treatment area were selected for observation, in order to minimize edge effects. Strip selection was also intended to overlap concurrent research on the site (Kega 2021). Sample locations were in 20 m intervals, along 180 m linear transects, which ran directly down the center of each selected strip, parallel to the strip orientation. Intervals of 20 m were selected to ensure samples were independent of each other; point separations of greater than 15 m have not been spatially correlated (Winkler and Moore 2006). Transects had a buffer of 25 m from roads or treatment boundaries. The start of each transect began 25 m from the forest edge adjacent to the nearest road. If strips were shorter than 230 m, transects were split into two strips.

A metric Federal snow sampling tube, with calibrated spring scale, was used to measure snow depth and SWE (Winkler et al. 2015). Each snow sampling location received an ID number, while bamboo stakes with flagging tape were placed as permanent markers. All sequential snow samples occurred within 1 m of the same markers over the two years (Winkler et al. 2015). Measurements with the Federal

sampling tube are believed to have maximum potential errors of 7-12% (Winkler et al. 2005). Sample locations were not allowed within 1 m of the base of trees or shrubs of any size.

Peak snow accumulation was filtered by finding the maximum value of SWE at each unique sample location for each year. Between sampling dates, ablation rate was calculated by dividing the observed change in SWE by the number of days between samples. Average daily ablation rates were calculated by peak (maximum) SWE, divided by the number of days between peak SWE and snow disappearance.

At the sampling location, snow disappearance was determined when greater than 50 % of the snow had disappeared within a 1 m radius circle around the bamboo marker (Winkler et al. 2005). If snow disappeared between or after sampling dates, dates of disappearance were estimated based on mean ablation rates between the final two sampling dates.

Canopy Cover & Solar Radiation

Hemispherical canopy photos were taken at each snow sampling location. A fullframe digital camera (Canon 5D Mark III) was used with a 180° hemispherical lens (Meike 6-11mm F/3.5). A flash-mount bubble level was used to level the camera on a tripod, 0.5 m above ground, facing directly up in the zenith direction. The top of the camera was orientated north (0°), sighted with an aiming stick and compass. Photos were captured on overcast and smokey days, because diffused light optimizes the postprocessing of images. GPS waypoints of each sampling location were averaged for 2 minutes with a Garmin eTrex 20.

Gap Light Analyzer software (GLA v2.0) was used to estimate canopy cover and solar radiation from the photos (Frazer et al. 1999). The software calculates canopy openness as the proportion of white pixels (sky) to black pixels (non-sky) in the images. Images were pre-processed with a blue light filter to optimize contrast and thresholding. Images were registered with initial cursor points at geographical north (0°). Users must determine a "threshold" for each individual image, which is the sensitivity of each pixel to accurately be classified as either a sky (white) or non-sky (black) pixel. Thresholding was completed manually, with pixel values ranging between 100-140 where all tree branches and foliage were in focus and light-gaps matched original photos. Latitude, longitude, elevation, slope, and aspect of each sampling location were entered into the site configuration settings. Sun tracking was configured for snow season (Nov 1 – Apr 30), with 16 azimuth regions, and 4 zenith regions, with a solar time step of 2 minutes. Solar radiation was modelled with a solar constant of 1367 W/m², cloudiness index of 0.5 kt, spectral fraction of 0.5, and beam fraction of 0.5. The universal overcast sky model (UOC) was used for sky-region brightness, with a clear-sky transmission coefficient of 0.65. The parameters mentioned above are recommended as default settings for GLA software by the software creators, as they are an average from peer-reviewed studies with many sampled locations in North America (Frazer et al. 1999).

Tree Height and Density

Airborne light detection and range (LiDAR) was used to estimate tree height and density. A remotely piloted aircraft system (RPAS) included a DJI Matrice-300 RTK, with DJI RTK ground station, and DJI Zenmuse L1 LiDAR payload. Raw point clouds were archived as LASer (.las) files with DJI Terra software.

LASer(.las) files were analyzed with R (version 4.1.2 2021; RStudio 2021.09.1+372, 2021) and the "*lidR*" package (version 4.0.2)(Roussel et al. 2022). Ground points were classified with the cloth simulation filtering (csf) algorithm. Z (height) coordinates were normalized with the triangulated irregular network (tin) algorithm. Individual trees were selected with the "*locate_trees()*" function based on a local maximum filter (Imf) with diameter of 3 m. LASer(.las) files were clipped to circular 5.64 m radius plots either directly centered on, or directly adjacent to, snow sampling locations.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed in R (version 4.1.2 2021; RStudio 2021.09.1+372, 2021) using a value α =0.05 as the threshold for statistical significance. Data distributions were assessed graphically with plotted residuals and Shapiro-Wilk's test for assumptions of normality and equal variances. Levene's test was used for assessment of homogeneity of variances.

The snow measurement data met parametric assumptions and included both random and fixed variables, so a mixed-effects general linear model was used for analysis. "Ime4" and "ImerTest" packages were used in R, which depend on Satterthwaite's method of approximation for p-values (Bates et al. 2015, Kuznetsova et al. 2017). Fixed effects in the models included treatment (strip-width) and block (strip-orientation). Canopy openness (100 - canopy cover %) was used as a continuous independent variable representing the treatment, as harvested strip-width directly influenced the canopy openness. Strip-width was used in some analyses as a categorical variable, but canopy openness was found to better capture the uniqueness of each sample location while accounting for structure of the forest edge (i.e. beetle attack, natural canopy gaps, stem density, and variability in tree heights). Geographical strip-orientations were differentiated by block, which was used as a fixed effect due to the effect of striporientation on the dependent variable. Sample date was used as a random effect, because there was year-to-year variability in the intercept, as well as interannual variability in the slope of the association between SWE and the fixed effects. Time and interannual climatic variability were not variables of interest, so random intercepts were used for each sample date. Sample points were spaced at 20 m, so samples were assumed to be independent of each other (Winkler and Moore 2006). Post-hoc Tukey-HSD tests were used for pairwise comparisons.

Estimated solar radiation also met parametric assumptions. A non-linear regression model was also used to compare transmitted direct radiation between blocks, plotted

by distance from forest edge as a percentage of adjacent trees. BasicTrendline package was used for the non-linear regression model (Mei et al. 2018).

Canopy cover data met parametric assumptions, so ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey-HSD tests were used. ANOVA was also used to compare some effects within a single year, such as with days to complete snow disappearance. Games-Howell post-hoc tests were used for some comparisons, due to its leniency of non-equal variances.

2.3 RESULTS

Site Characteristics and Climate

Elevations of snow sampling locations ranged from 1349-1395 m and slope ranged from 1-10°. The clearcut was flattest with mean slope of 1.3°, non-harvest areas had a mean of 3.9°, and slope across treatments were statistically similar with means of 5-7° (P=0.8). North-south orientated strips (Block A) had a mean elevation 20 m greater than east-west strips (Block B) (P<0.001).

Tree heights ranged from 6.8 to 23.4 m (\bar{x} = 18.7 m).Canopy cover was similar within treatments, between blocks (P>0.60). One exception was the 15 m strips having 3 % greater canopy cover in strips orientated east-west compared to strips orientated north-south, 50.6 and 47.5 % respectively (P=0.02). Mean canopy cover of reserve-strips between blocks was similar (80-81 %).

During the spring melt (April 1 – May 15), air temperatures in the clearcut were similar between both years, with similar number of days and nights above 0 °C **(Table 2.** There were 17 more cumulative degree days, greater than 0 °C, in 2019 compared to 2020. There was more rain in 2020, relative to 2019. In 2020, there was 59.6 mm more total precipitation than in 2019. Also in 2020, 52.2 mm of precipitation fell in the first week of May alone, which occurred with rapid simultaneous snow disappearance across all treatments, primarily due to rapid melt. Wind predominantly blew north to south, or south to north, between Nov. 1 and May 1 **(Figure 3. Average** wind speed and direction for three climate stations owned and operated by the BC Government, of nearest proximity to the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project. Wind speed and direction were averaged during the period of snow cover between Nov. 1 – May 1.

Table 2. Summary of climatic variables observed during a period between peak snow accumulation and total snow disappearance (March 1 - May 15) in 2019/2020 at the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project. Snow water equivalent (SWE); snow water density (SWD); cumulative degree days greater than 0°C (CDD >0°C).

		Max.							
	Max.	Mean			# of				Avg.
	Mean	Snow	Max.	# of days	nights		Total		Min.
	SWE	Depth	SWD	above 0	above	CDD	precip	Avg. Max.	Temp
Year	(cm)	(cm)	(%)	°C	0 °C	(>0°C)	(mm)	Temp. (°C)	. (°C)
2019	13.1	62.1	30.6	45	7	236	27.4	10.3	-2.8
2020	22.6	74.6	36.0	43	7	219	87.0	9.4	-4.1



Figure 3. Average wind speed and direction for three climate stations owned and operated by the BC Government, of nearest proximity to the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project. Wind speed and direction were averaged during the period of snow cover between Nov. 1 – May 1.

Snow Accumulation

The mean snowpack was 75 % greater in 2020 than 2019 (**Table 2**). Greater snow accumulation brought less variability between harvest treatments in 2020. Peak snow accumulation in 2020 had 73 % greater mean snow water equivalent (SWE), 20 % greater depth, and 18 % greater density than in 2019 (averaged across all treatments).

Snow water equivalent (SWE) increased with canopy openness (P<0.001, R²=0.74) (Figure 4). There was an interaction with strip-orientation, where greater increase in SWE per unit increase in strip-width was found in north-south orientated strips (P<0.001). At peak accumulation, the narrowest strips (10 m) increased snow accumulation relative to non-harvested controls by 54 % (P<0.001). The widest strips (20 m) accumulated 12 % more SWE than 10 m strips (P<0.001). In both years, 20 m strips retained more snow than the clearcut. The 20 m strips had a peak accumulation of SWE which was 11.4 % greater than the clearcut, with both years combined (P=0.001) (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Snow water equivalent (SWE) in commercially strip-thinned treatments of various widths (10, 15, and 20 m) expressed as canopy openness (%) at time of peak snow accumulation. Non-harvested areas were included as controls. SWE was measured during the years 2019 and 2020. Mixed effects linear model was used with fixed effects: canopy openness & strip-orientation, sample date was a random effect. Snow water equivalent (SWE) increased with canopy openness (P<0.001, R²=0.57, n=160).



Figure 5. Peak snow accumulation, measured as snow water equivalent (SWE), in commercially strip-thinned treatments of various widths (10, 15, and 20 m) measured on a single day of peak snow accumulation. The dates of maximum snow accumulation for majority of treatments were April 26, 2019, and April 24, 2020.

Snow Ablation Rates

Differences in ablation rates between thinning treatments were only observed in 2019. In 2019, east-west strips had a faster mean ablation rate than north-south strips, with a difference of 0.4 mm/day (12 %) (P=0.028, n=30). The greatest differences in ablation rates were observed between March 8-29, 2019, when north-south strips lost – -15 % of the mean snowpack while east-west strips gained +13 %. During this period, 10 m east-west strips gained 4.5 cm SWE, which contributed to 27 % of their total peak accumulation. 15 m east-west strips maintained zero change during this time; whereas, 20 m east-west strips lost 4.6 cm, or 22 % of their peak accumulation. Snow disappearance in 2020 was almost simultaneous with rain and warming events, while ablation rates were consistent across thinning treatments.

Snow Disappearance

Patterns of snow disappearance were inconsistent between both years. In 2019, harvested strip-width had no effect on the number of days for snow to disappear in the center of the strips. However, in 2020 snow in harvested east-west strips completely disappeared in a mean of 5.3 days before the north-south strips (P<0.001). In 2020 there was an interaction between treatment and strip-orientation. Snow in harvested 20 m east-west strips disappeared at least 5 days before any other treatment, and 9 days before strips of equal width orientated north-south (P<0.001) (

Table 3).

Table 3. The number of days between peak snow accumulation and complete snow disappearance in commercially thinned strips of varying widths (10, 15, 20m) in the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project during snowmelt of 2019 and 2020. Snow was measured in the center of the harvested strips. Means were compared with a Games-

	2019				2020			
	NS	EW	P-value		NS	EW	P-value	
10 m	52.6	54.4	0.33	10 m	68.8	65.9	0.175	
15 m	52	54.5	0.13	15 m	69.7	65.8	0.042	
20 m	53.3	52.2	0.55	20 m	69.3	60.1	<0.001	
Mean	52.6	53.7	0.287	Mean	69.3	63.9	<0.001	

Howell post-hoc test. NS= north-south, EW=east-west.

Further treatment effects on snow disappearance were found in the reserve-strips, where trees remained between the harvested strips. In both years, snow disappeared in reserve strips orientated east-west before any other treatment. In 2019, reserve-strips orientated east-west disappeared 10.2 days before reserve-strips orientated north-south (P<0.001). In 2020, a similar effect was observed with a difference of 4.7 days (P<0.001) (**Table 4**).

Table 4. The number of days between peak snow accumulation and complete snow disappearance in leave-strips of commercially thinned stands of varying widths (20, 30, 40m) in the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project during snowmelt of 2019 and 2020. Snow was measured in the center of the leave-strips. Means were compared with a Games-Howell post-hoc test. NS= north-south, EW=east-west

		2019				2020	
	NS	EW	P-value		NS	EW	P-value
20 m	41.1	29.1	0.024	20 m	60	57.6	0.088
30 m	43.5	38.4	0.034	30 m	65	60.3	0.034
40 m	47.1	33.6	<0.001	40 m	64.5	57.8	0.002
Mean	43.9	33.7	<0.001	Mean	63.2	58.6	<0.001

Solar Radiation

The effect of harvested strip-width on estimated transmitted direct radiation was dependent on the height of surrounding trees and distance from the forest edge. Overall, direct radiation increased with the distance from forest edge in proportion to the surrounding tree heights (P<0.001) (**Figure 6**). There was an interaction, as north-south orientated strips had greater increases of estimated direct radiation with increasing strip-width, compared to east-west orientated strips (P<0.001).



Figure 6. Nonlinear regression models of estimated transmitted direct radiation at snow measurement locations in the center of harvested strips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m), plotted by distance from forest edge as a percentage of the average height of surrounding trees ($\bar{x} = 18.7$ m), and by strip orientation (east-west vs north-south). North-south Y = -8.6 e^{-0.014 X} + 9.5, R²=0.97, P<0.001. East-west Y = -9.7 e^{-0.0065 X} + 11, R²=0.97, P<0.001.

Differences in transmitted direct radiation in harvested strips, were only observed where distance from forest-edge was equal to, or less than, the height of surrounding trees. The 10 m strips orientated north-south were estimated to receive 1.1 MJ/m²/day more direct radiation than 10 m strips orientated east-west (P<0.001) (**Figure 7**).

The difference between 15 m strips of opposing orientation, was 2.2 MJ/m²/day (P<0.001). There was no difference in direct radiation between 20 m strips of opposing orientations (P=0.47). Overall, all harvested strips orientated north-south received 1.3 $MJ/m^2/day$ (36 %) more direct radiation than east-west strips (P<0.001).



Figure 7. Estimated transmitted direct radiation in harvested strips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m), plotted by treatment and blocks of opposing strip-orientations (north-south vs east-west). Different letters represent P<0.05 on Games-Howell pairwise comparison tests (n=20).

Transmitted diffuse radiation in the center of 40 m leave-strips (between 20 m harvested strips) was estimated to be 43 % greater than non-harvested areas (P<0.001) and 33 % greater than 20 m leave-strips (P<0.001). Whereas, a difference in directly transmitted radiation between 20 and 40 m leave-strips was not observed (P=0.99). The 20 m leave-strips had mean canopy cover of 83.1 %, while 40 m leave-strips had canopy cover of 77.6%, a difference of 5.5% (P<0.001).

Snow results are summarized in Appendix E (Tables F.1 – F.10)

2.4 DISCUSSION

The various widths of harvested strips in the commercial stand-thinning treatments influenced snow accumulation, ablation rates, and time to total snow disappearance. These effects were further influenced by the geographical orientation of the strips (north-south vs east-west). The designs of the alternative harvesting strategies affected snow dynamics in the harvested strips, as well as the snow dynamics of the reservestrips between the harvested strips. The fundamentals of these snow processes have been explained in detail in many previous studies and this experiment put the theories to test, with multiple harvest treatments and orientations, side-by-side within a 100 ha area. Strip-width increments of 5 m (i.e., 10, 15, 20 m strips), in combination with nonharvested areas and a clearcut, provided a fine-scale experiment with a spectrum of canopy-gaps ranging from less-than to greater-than the average height of surrounding trees. This is the first study in B.C. that has examined the snow dynamics in commercially thinned, mid-rotation stands with strips 10-20 m wide. The broad implications of this study are that the chosen strip-widths of commercial thinning operations do influence the volume of snow water equivalent (SWE) at any given time, and also influence the ablation rates, and timing of total snow disappearance. This study provides evidence to suggest that harvesting strategies can be more deeply assessed prior to implementation, in order to determine the effects of the geographical orientation, slope, and aspect of resulting canopy-gaps to control the snowpack in accordance with a broad range of land management objectives.

Snow Accumulation

It is important to highlight the spatial and temporal variability inherent in all repeated-measures snow studies, especially as the climatic variables change year-toyear (Winkler et al. 2005). Most notably was the 73 % difference in peak SWE observed between 2019 and 2020. This study benefitted from capturing such annual variability within a two-year sampling window. It is important to acknowledge that variability, or

difference between treatment effects, decreases as snow accumulation increases (Winkler and Moore 2006).

Peak snow accumulation increased with harvested strip-width, which is consistent with previous studies. It has been well established, that canopy-openness has been positively correlated with snow accumulation due to reduced snowfall canopyinterception loss (D'Eon 2004; Winkler et al. 2005; Woods et al. 2006; Veatch et al. 2009). However, it was surprising to see 8-17 % greater accumulation in the center of 20 m strips than in the clearcut of much larger open area. Snow was sampled in the center of the strips, so the center of the widest 20 m strips is only 10 m from forest edge. This 10 m distance is equivalent to 53 % of the adjacent tree heights ($\bar{x} = 18.7$ m), which is well within the range of influence of forest-edge (Spittlehouse et al. 2004). Although the clearcut was a much larger opening size, this is likely explained by the forest edge providing more shelter in the strips. Although wind was not measured in this study, 20 m strips are likely sheltered by forest edge from wind, and processes of sublimation and evaporation, effects of which may be greater in the clearcut (Spittlehouse et al. 2004; Winkler et al. 2005). All snow samples were taken on linear transects down the center of open- or reserve-strips. All snow sampling locations in harvested treatments had a distance from forest edge that was equivalent to 31 – 123 % of the height of surrounding trees. All snow sampling locations were under influence of edge effect, within one tree length from surrounding trees (Spittlehouse et al. 2004).

This edge effect has been observed to interact with the orientation of the forest edge. Previous studies suggest that greatest snow accumulation occurs in gap-widths 3-8x the average tree-height and which are orientated parallel to the wind (Hoover 1969; Gary 1974). However, in this study, there was no observable influence of striporientation on snow accumulation (P=0.61). This is inconsistent with the understanding of interception, sublimation, and redistribution processes occurring at micro-scales (Pomeroy et al. 1998). North-south strips were parallel to the predominant wind direction. North-south orientated strips also had greater increases of estimated direct radiation with increasing strip-width, compared to east-west orientated strips (P<0.001).

Increased solar energy inputs increase probability of sublimation, evaporation. With differences in wind direction and solar radiation between strip orientations it was expected to observe some influence on snow accumulation.

The 40 m leave-strips (between 20 m harvested strips) accumulated 20 % more SWE than 20 m leave strips (between 10 m harvested strips). Wind and sublimination have a greater effect on more exposed, or less sheltered, snowpacks, which may be the case with leave-strips surrounded by wider openings (Pomeroy et al. 2009; Molotch et al. 2004; Molotch et al. 2007; Reba et al. 2012; Rasouli et al. 2014). Narrower reserve-strips had greater canopy-openness, but lesser SWE accumulation. Solar radiation is also a critical factor in snowpack dynamics, as both shortwave and longwave radiation influence the snow energy balance (Stoy et al. 2018; Dombrovsky et al. 2019). Forest structures influence radiation by favouring conditions for either long or shortwave radiation (Essery et al. 2008). Gaps in the forest canopy allow direct transmittance of solar radiation and increased shortwave radiation (Essery et al. 2008). Canopy cover increases longwave radiation to the ground or understory, while decreasing the influence of shortwave radiation (Essery et al. 2008). Tree canopies and stems can retain and emit more thermal energy than the surrounding air (Pomeroy et al. 2009). Longwave radiation emittance from tree canopies and stems will have a greater influence on snow dynamics during periods of lower air temperatures (Pomeroy et al. 2009). Variations of forest structure with different thinning widths, combined with terrain and strip orientation, results in varying levels of long and shortwave radiation.

Since the center of harvested strips and leave-strips were observed, sampling locations were of varying distances from the forest edge. For example, the center of a 20 m leave-strip is only 10 m from the open gap in the canopy, which sunlight penetrates through. Whereas, the center of a 40 m leave-strip is 20 m from the canopy gap, which is beyond a tree length from the forest edge. It is most likely that snow disappeared earlier in narrower leave-strips, due to increased shortwave radiation with more frequent canopy gaps. The canopy cover associated with the 20 m leave-strips also

provides shelter for increased longwave radiation below the canopy (Pomeroy et al. 2009).

Snow Ablation Rates

The greatest differences in ablation rates were observed between March 8-29, 2019, when north-south strips lost 15 % of the mean snowpack while east-west strips gained 13 %. During this period, 10 m east-west strips gained 4.5 cm SWE, which contributed to 27 % of their peak accumulation; meanwhile, ablation occurred in all other treatments. These findings were consistent with the estimated transmitted direct radiation, as harvested north-south strips had a mean daily direct radiation of 1.3 MJ/m²/day (36 %) greater than east-west strips (P<0.001). When the path of the sun is overlaid on the forest structure, it helps to visualize the effect of strip orientation on direct solar radiation (**Figure 8**). The suns angle gets steeper towards the earth's surface during summer, which increases solar insolation and transmitted radiation (**Figure 9**). This evidence suggests that the resulting forest structure from the thinning treatments influences the effect of long and shortwave solar radiation and, when combined with wind speed and air temperature, likely contributes to heat exchange between the snow surface and atmosphere (Spittlehouse et al. 2004).



Figure 8. Visualization of the estimated path of the sun, between Nov. 1 – May 1, in 10 m wide strips, of opposing geographical orientations (north-south vs east-west) harvested in commercial strip-thinning operations in the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project. Path of the sun was visualized with Gap Light Analyzer (GLA) software with hemi-spherical photos.



Figure 9. Diagram of approximate seasonal changes in the angle of the sun and its interaction with terrain, slope, and aspect in the northern hemisphere.

Snow disappeared sooner in leave-strips and non-harvested areas, relative to harvested areas, due to there being less SWE with increasing canopy closure. Highest ablation rates tend to occur in areas with shallowest snowpacks. Snow tends to disappear quickest near the base of trees. Previous studies have attributed the quicker ablation rates to increased longwave radiation emitted from tree stems (Faria et al. 2000; Musselman et al. 2008; Pomeroy et al. 2009). Sunlight can penetrate further into south-facing forest edges, providing solar radiation deeper into the stand (Spittlehouse et al. 2004). At these latitudes, forest edges are shaded to their north or exposed to sunlight to their south. Sunlight can also penetrate further into south-facing forest edges, providing solar radiation deeper into the stand (Spittlehouse et al. 2004).

Management Implications

With the ultimate goal of sustainable resource management in mind, these results highlight the importance of strategic structural design of forest stands to help achieve objectives. These results suggest that fine-scale differences, such as differences of 5 m in strip-widths and the orientation of these strips, directly influence resources on which timber and forage productivity depend on.

Manipulation of snow accumulation is important both at the watershed-scale and site level, as it determines the amount of water available for reservoir storage, spring runoff, and biological availability for timber and forage productivity (Winkler et al. 2005; Brekke et al. 2009; Hu et al. 2010). These results also remind us that the timing of total snow disappearance depends on the amount of snow allowed to accumulate in that particular area.

Harvested strips that are slightly wider than the height of surrounding trees will accumulate more snow water equivalent than thinner strips or clearcuts with larger openings. If lesser snow depth and faster snow disappearance are required for critical ungulate winter ranges, then narrower strips orientated east-west could be considered for less snow accumulation and faster disappearance rates within reserve strips (Safford 2004).

Since the effects of the forest-edge are the primary causes of these observed snow dynamics, it is recommended to use *site index* or inventory data to make estimates of tree heights. With estimates of average tree heights it is possible to determine appropriate strip-widths to achieve management objectives. It is important to consider the height of the trees for the duration of their expected life, which is why site index is an appropriate variable to consider.

The timing of snow disappearance defines the length of growing season; thus, the timing also defines the limits on biodiversity as the length of growing season combined with moisture availability determine the organisms that the ecosystem can support. Snow insulates vegetation, microbes, biological activity, and chemical reactions in the soil from extremely low temperatures (Pulliainen et al. 2017; Krinner et al. 2018). Snowpack is critical to the carbon balance, both as frost protection and in the timing of disappearance and soil moisture availability that initiates growth of vegetation. The timing of snow disappearance and soil temperature that initiates growth of vegetation, is therefore analogous to carbon sequestration (Pulliainen et al. 2017). Reduced annual snowpack, anticipated with climate change, will have widespread effects on all processes dependent on snow accumulation (Islam et al. 2019).

2.5 CONCLUSION

Commercial strip-thinning and agronomic seeding for operational-scale silvopasture is an alternative harvesting strategy that can influence snow dynamics in both the harvested and reserve strips. These effects were further influenced by the geographical orientation, or aspect, of the strips (north-south vs east-west).

Responses in the snowpack to strip-width were largely due to the proportion of the canopy-gap to the height of surrounding trees. Wider strips accumulated more snow

water equivalent (SWE). The 20 m strips even accumulated more snow than the clearcut, likely due to the reserve strips providing shelter from wind and sublimation; whereas, the clearcut is more exposed. Harvested strips that are slightly wider than the height of surrounding trees will accumulate more snow water equivalent than thinner strips or clearcuts with larger openings.

Snow processes have highly variable temporal and spatial patterns, but under certain conditions east-west orientated strips can increase snow accumulation and delay snow disappearance by several days due to shade provided by the southern forest-edge. Orientation of the strips also influenced ablation in the leave-strips, as east-west leavestrips disappeared 5-10 days before any other treatments.

2.6 LITERATURE CITED

- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S. 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects. Models using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software. 67(1): 1-48. doi:10.18637/jss.v067.i01.
- Brandes O, O'Riordan J, O'Riordan T, Brandes L. 2014. A blueprint for watershed governance in British Columbia. POLIS Project on Ecological Governance.
- Brekke LD, Maurer EP, Anderson JD, Dettinger MD, Townsley ES, Harrison A, Pruitt T. 2009. Assessing reservoir operations risk under climate change. Water Resour Res. 45(4):1–16. doi:10.1029/2008WR006941.
- Curran M, Davis I, Mitchell B. 2000. Sylviculture prescription data collection field handbook: interpretative guide for data collection, site stratification, and sensitivity evaluation for silviculture prescription - Land Management Handbook 47.
- D'Eon RG. 2004. Snow depth as a function of canopy cover and other site attributes in a forested ungulate winter range in southeast British Columbia. J Ecosyst Manag. 3(2):1–9. http://jem.forrex.org/index.php/jem/article/view/269.
- DeBeer CM, Pomeroy JW. 2017. Influence of snowpack and melt energy heterogeneity on snow cover depletion and snowmelt runoff simulation in a cold mountain environment. J Hydrol. 553:199–213. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.07.051. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.07.051.
- DeWalle DR, Rango A. 2008. Principles of snow hydrology. Cambridge University Press.
- Dickerson-Lange SE, Gersonde RF, Hubbart JA, Link TE, Nolin AW, Perry GH, Roth TR, Wayand NE, Lundquist JD. 2017. Snow disappearance timing is dominated by forest effects on snow accumulation in warm winter climates of the Pacific Northwest, United States. Hydrol Process. 31(10):1846–1862. doi:10.1002/HYP.11144. [accessed 2022 Jan 27]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hyp.11144.
- Dombrovsky LA, Kokhanovsky AA, Randrianalisoa JH. 2019. On snowpack heating by solar radiation: A computational model. J Quant Spectrosc Radiat Transf. 227:72–85. doi:10.1016/J.JQSRT.2019.02.004.
- Essery R, Pomeroy J, ... CE-HPA, 2008 undefined. 2008. Modelling longwave radiation to snow beneath forest canopies using hemispherical photography or linear regression. Wiley Online Libr. 22(15):2788–2800. doi:10.1002/hyp.6930. [accessed 2022 Apr 5]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hyp.6930.
- Faria DA, Pomeroy JW, Essery RLH. 2000. Effect of covariance between ablation and snow water equivalent on depletion of snow-covered area in a forest. Hydrol Process. 14(15):2683–2695. doi:10.1002/1099-1085(20001030)14:15<2683::AID-HYP86>3.0.CO;2-N.
- Frazer, G.W., Canham, C.D., and Lertzman, K.P. 1999. Gap Light Analyzer (GLA), Version 2.0: Imaging software to extract canopy structure and gap light transmission indices

from true-colour fisheye photographs, users manual and program documentation. Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, British Columbia, and the Institute of Ecosystem Studies, Millbrook, New York.

- Gary HL. 1974. Snow accumulation and melt along borders of a strip cut in New Mexico. Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Forest Service US Department of Agriculture.
- Harma KJ, Johnson MS, Cohen S. 2012. Future Water Supply and Demand in the Okanagan Basin, British Columbia: A Scenario-Based Analysis of Multiple, Interacting Stressors Integrating land use planning and water governance in Amazonia: Towards improving freshwater security in the agricultural. Water Resour Manag. 26:667–689. doi:10.1007/s11269-011-9938-3. [accessed 2022 Jan 27]. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228775975.
- Hoover M. 1969. Vegetation management for water yield. In: American Water Resources Assocations Symposium of Water Balance in North America. Banff, AB. p. 191–195.
- Hu J, Moore DJP, Burns SP, Monson R. 2010. Longer growing seasons lead to less carbon sequestration by a subalpine forest. Glob Chang Biol. 16(2):771–783. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01967.x.
- Islam S, Curry CL, Déry SJ, Zwiers FW. 2019. Quantifying projected changes in runoff variability and flow regimes of the Fraser River Basin, British Columbia. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci. 23(2):811–828. doi:10.5194/hess-23-811-2019.
- Jost G, Weiler M, Gluns DR, Alila Y. 2007. The influence of forest and topography on snow accumulation and melt at the watershed-scale. J Hydrol. 347(1–2):101–115. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.09.006.
- Kega, S. 2021. Evaluating the potential for increased forage productivity and soil carbon sequestration in strip-thinned silvopastures [MSc dissertation]. Thompson Rivers University. 98 p.
- Krinner G, Derksen C, Essery R, Flanner M, Hagemann S, Clark M, Hall A, Rott H, Brutel-Vuilmet C, Kim H, et al. 2018. ESM-SnowMIP: Assessing snow models and quantifying snow-related climate feedbacks. Geosci Model Dev. 11(12):5027–5049. doi:10.5194/gmd-11-5027-2018.
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. 2017. ImerTest Package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. Journal of Statistical Software. 82(13):1-26. doi: 10.18637/jss.v082.i13
- Lapp S, Redding T, Ronneseth K, Wilford D. 2015. Research and information needs assessment to support sustainable watershed management in northeast British Columbia. Prov. BC, Victoria. BC Tech. Rep. 090.

- Lloyd D, Angove K, Hope G, Thompson C. 1990. A guide to site identification and interpretation for the Kamloops Forest Region Land Management Handbook 23.
- Mei W, Yu G, Lai J, Rao Q, Umezawa Y. 2018. Package 'basicTrendline'. [accessed 2021 Mar 27]. https://cran.microsoft.com/snapshot/2020-01-17/web/packages/basicTrendline/basicTrendline.pdf
- Merritt WS, Alila Y, Barton M, Taylor B, Cohen S, Neilsen D. 2006. Hydrologic response to scenarios of climate change in sub watersheds of the Okanagan basin, British Columbia. J Hydrol. 326(1–4):79–108. doi:10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2005.10.025.
- Molotch NP, Fassnacht SR, Bales RC, Helfrich SR. 2004. Estimating the distribution of snow water equivalent and snow extent beneath cloud cover in the Salt-Verde River basin, Arizona. Hydrol Process. 18(9):1595–1611. doi:10.1002/hyp.1408.
- Molotch NP, Blanken PD, Williams MW, Turnipseed AA, Monson RK, Margulis SA. 2007.
 Estimating sublimation of intercepted and sub-canopy snow using eddy covariance systems. Hydrol Process. 21(12):1567–1575. doi:10.1002/HYP.6719. [accessed 2022 Feb 16]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hyp.6719.
- Musselman K, Molotch N, Brooks P. 2008. Effects of vegetation on snow accumulation and ablation in a mid-latitude sub-alpine forest. Hydrological Processes. 22(15):2767– 2776. doi:10.1002/hyp.7050. [accessed 2022 Mar 7]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hyp.7050.
- Pike RG, Spittlehouse DL, Bennett KE, Egginton VN, Tschaplinski PJ, Murdock TQ, Werner AT. 2008. Climate change and watershed hydrology: Part I–Recent and projected changes in British Columbia. Streamline Watershed Manag Bull. 11(2):1–8.
- Pike RG, Redding TE, Moore RD, Winkler RD, Bladon KD. 2010. Compendium of forest hydrology and geomorphology in British Columbia. Land Management Handbook-Ministry of Forests and Range (66).
- Pomeroy JW, Parviainen J, Hedstrom N, Gray DM. 1998. Coupled modelling of forest snow interception and sublimation. Hydrol Process. 12(15):2317–2337. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(199812)12:15<2317::AID-HYP799>3.0.CO;2-X.
- Pomeroy JW, Hanson S, Faria D. 2001. Small-Scale Variation in Snowmelt Energy in a Boreal Forest : An Additional Factor Controlling Depletion of Snow Cover? 58th East Snow Conf:85–96.
- Pomeroy JW, Gray DM, Hedstrom NR, Janowicz JR. 2002. Prediction of seasonal snow accumulation in cold climate forests. Hydrol Process. 16(18):3543–3558. doi:10.1002/hyp.1228.
- Pomeroy J, Toth B, ... RG-J of, 2003 undefined. 2003. Variation in surface energetics during snowmelt in a subarctic mountain catchment. J Hydrometeorol. 4(1):702– 719. [accessed 2022 Mar 7].

https://journals.ametsoc.org/view/journals/hydr/4/4/1525-7541_2003_004_0702_viseds_2_0_co_2.xml.

- Pomeroy JW, Marks D, Link T, Ellis C, Hardy J, Rowlands A, Granger R. 2009. The impact of coniferous forest temperature on incoming longwave radiation to melting snow. Hydrological Processes: An International Journal. 23(17):2513-25.
- Pulliainen J, Aurela M, Laurila T, Aalto T, Takala M, Salminen M, Kulmala M, Barr A, Heimann M, Lindroth A, et al. 2017. Early snowmelt significantly enhances boreal springtime carbon uptake. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 114(42):11081–11086. doi:10.1073/pnas.1707889114.
- Rasouli K, Pomeroy JW, Janowicz JR, Carey SK, Williams TJ. 2014. Hydrological sensitivity of a northern mountain basin to climate change. Hydrol Process. 28(14):4191–4208. doi:10.1002/hyp.10244.
- Reba ML, Pomeroy J, Marks D, Link TE. 2012. Estimating surface sublimation losses from snowpacks in a mountain catchment using eddy covariance and turbulent transfer calculations. Hydrol Process. 26(24):3699–3711. doi:10.1002/HYP.8372. [accessed 2022 Feb 16]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hyp.8372.
- Roussel JR, Auty, D, De Boissieu F, Meador AS, Jean-Francois B, Demetrios G, Steinmeier L, and Adaszweksi S. 2022. lidR Package: Airborne LiDAR Data Manipulation and Visualization for Forestry Applications. https://github.com/r-lidar/lidR
- Scherer R, Redding T, Ronneseth K, Wilford D. 2018. Research and information needs assessment to support sustainable watershed management in the Skeeria, Omineca, Cariboo, and Kootenay/Boundary Natural Resource Regions, British Columbia. Tech Rep- Minist For Lands Nat Resour Oper Br Columbia.(116). https://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Tr.htm.
- Spittlehouse DL, Adams RS, Winkler RD. 2004. Forest, Edge, and Opening Microclimate at Sicamous Creek Research Report 24. Minist For For Sci Progr. 6721(250):114–128.
- Stoy PC, Peitzsch E, Wood D, Rottinghaus D, Wohlfahrt G, Goulden M, Ward H. 2018. On the exchange of sensible and latent heat between the atmosphere and melting snow. Agric For Meteorol. 252(January):167–174. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2018.01.028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2018.01.028.
- Veatch W, Brooks PD, Gustafson JR, Molotch NP. 2009. Quantifying the effects of forest canopy cover on net snow accumulation at a continental, mid-latitude site. Ecohydrology. 2(2):115–128. doi:10.1002/ECO.45. [accessed 2022 Jan 28]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/eco.45.
- Winkler RD, Spittlehouse DL, Golding DL. 2005. Measured differences in snow accumulation and melt among clearcut, juvenile, and mature forests in southern British Columbia. Hydrol Process. 19(1):51–62. doi:10.1002/hyp.5757.

- Winkler RD, Moore RD. 2006. Variability in snow accumulation patterns within forest stands on the interior plateau of British Columbia, Canada. Hydrol Process. 20(17):3683–3695. doi:10.1002/HYP.6382. [accessed 2022 Feb 14]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hyp.6382.
- Winkler R, Boon S, Zimonick B, Spittlehouse D. 2014. Snow accumulation and ablation response to changes in forest structure and snow surface albedo after attack by mountain pine beetle. Hydrol Process. 28(2):197–209. doi:10.1002/hyp.9574.
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S, Zimonick B. 2015. Forest disturbance effects on snow and water yield in interior British Columbia. Hydrology Research. 46(4):521-32.
- Winkler R, Spittlehouse D, Boon S. 2017. Streamflow response to clear-cut logging on British Columbia's Okanagan Plateau. Ecohydrology. 10(2):1–15. doi:10.1002/eco.1836.
- Winkler RD, Allen DM, Giles TR, Heise BA, Moore RD, Redding TE, Spittlehouse DL, Wei X. 2021. Approaching four decades of forest watershed research at Upper Penticton Creek, British Columbia: A synthesis. Hydrol Process. 35(5):e14123. doi:10.1002/HYP.14123. [accessed 2022 Jan 27]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/hyp.14123.
- Woods SW, Ahl R, Sappington J, McCaughey W. 2006. Snow accumulation in thinned lodgepole pine stands, Montana, USA. For Ecol Manage. 235(1–3):202–211. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2006.08.013.

3.0 CHAPTER 3 – INFLUENCE OF COMMERCIAL STRIP-THINNING, OF VARIOUS WIDTHS, ON SOIL MOISTURE AND TEMPERATURE IN LODGEPOLE PINE SILVOPASTURES ON THE OKANAGAN PLATEAU OF SOUTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Soil moisture and soil temperature are two of the most critical ecological factors influencing the outcomes of forest and range management. Aspects of soil moisture, including biological availability and storage capacity, link fundamental hydrological processes, from precipitation to groundwater and runoff, to the ecological functions that determine vegetative productivity, diversity, and carbon sequestration (Kupfer and Cairns 1996; Rodriguez-Iturbe et al. 1999; Koster et al. 2004; Hirschi et al. 2010). Whereas soil temperature directly influences the timing and length of growing seasons, overall biomass production, and processes relating to carbon sequestration, such as soil respiration (Peng and Dang 2003; Almagro et al. 2009; Bürli et al. 2021). Alternative forest harvesting systems may be strategically designed to optimize soil moisture availability and water utilization, not only to improve forage and timber productivity, but also to improve flood, wildfire and climate change mitigation

In forests and rangeland, water balance is crucial in determining vegetative productivity and biodiversity. Beyond the broad spatial and temporal patterns of climate and precipitation, soil moisture content at the site-level is dependent on many factors from parent materials of the soil, physical properties and composition of soils, to terrain and topography (Koster 2004). Soil texture, structure, porosity, bulk density, and carbon content all control the distribution of water throughout the vadose zone (Vereecken et al. 1989; Lin et al. 2006). Spatial patterns of soil moisture are further influenced by vegetative cover, leaf-area-index, solar radiation, air temperature, and the volume of water transferred to the atmosphere via evapotranspiration (Teuling and Troch 2005).

The research site used for this thesis was mapped in the Montane Spruce biogeoclimatic zone (Lloyd at al. 1990). These zones typically have wetter soils; therefore, soil moisture may not be a limiting resource to the productivity of lodgepole

pine within these zones. In previous studies, east of the Rocky Mountains in similar climate to the montane spruce zones of BC, various soil moisture and nutrient regimes were observed to have little to no influence on productivity of established lodgepole pine stands (Wang et al. 2004). With abundant moisture availability, differences in site productivity may rather be due to differences in temperature and length of growing season associated with elevation (Wang et al. 2004). However, in more temperate and drier climates, soil water content is often a limiting resource for forest productivity and carbon storage (Chimner et al. 2010; Pretzcsh et al. 2012). Soil moisture can also be limiting to land management objectives, as there is often competition between understory vegetation and tree seedlings, as is the case with conifers and tall grasses in drier climates (Wallace et al. 2021).

It is generally understood that timber harvesting immediately increases water availability in the soils and ground due to increased precipitation throughfall and decreased transpiration resulting from the removal of trees (Gebhardt et al. 2014; Korres et al. 2015). Timber harvesting has also been observed to influence transmittance of solar radiation to the ground and understory, as well as increased wind, which together often cause an increase in evaporative losses of ground moisture (Simonin et al. 2007; Traff et al. 2015). Controlling the amount of water yield and runoff caused by timber harvesting is a primary concern for land managers (Zhao et al. 2021). Removal of any amount of trees is expected to increase water yield; however, stand thinning has been observed to lessen the severity of runoff relative to clearcutting (Zhao et al. 2021). Flood mitigation, reservoir volumes, and water quality are top priorities in a community watershed; however, forest planners are also striving for optimal water usage and efficiency (Guerrieri et al. 2019; Arroyo-Rodríguez et al. 2020). In regards to achieving goals of sustainable resource extraction, optimal carbon sequestration, timber and forage productivity and biodiversity, on-site water usage should be optimized to the best of our ability (Arroyo-Rodríguez et al. 2020). Water efficiency is particularly important in drier or drought-prone ecosystems. Forests stands should be designed to

be resilient to a range of weather anticipated with climate change, while balancing the water budget to account for objectives at the site-level and also downstream.

Previous studies suggest that soil temperature may be more growth-limiting for *Pinus contorta* (lodgepole pine) than soil moisture in montane forests of higher elevation (Wang et al. 2004). Soil temperature is primarily influenced by transmittance of solar radiation to the ground (Onwuka et al. 2016). Timber harvesting and removal of debris is generally expected to increase soil temperatures due to increased transmittance of radiation (Zabowski et al. 2000).

Previous studies have determined that a minimum soil temperature of 5-6 °C is required for most herbaceous crop and grass seeds to germinate (Dubetz et al. 1962; Singh and Dhaliwal 1972). Germination success of perennial forage species tends to increase with increasing soil temperature; however, optimal soil temperature for germination and growth have been observed to be between 18-26 °C (Dubetz et al. 1962; Singh and Dhaliwal 1972; Morrow and Power 1979). Wheatgrasses have been observed to require 82-98 growing degree days (GDD) to produce their first leaf during the initial growth phase, and between 135-372 additional GDD for the first leaf to develop in the second regrowth phase (Frank 1991). Optimal soil temperatures for root and shoot growth of lodgepole pine seedlings has been observed to be around 20°C (Lopushinsky and Max 1990). Therefore, it is expected that stand thinning may increase the length of growing seasons for timber and forage in these montane ecosystems, by indirectly increasing soil temperatures and cumulative growing degree days.

Combinations of soil temperature and moisture are also pertinent to the conservation and diversity of microbes, forest fungi, and processes of soil respiration (Wilhelm et al. 2017). Larger forest openings have lower carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratios, greater moisture availability, and warmer soil temperatures which aid in the production of organic nitrogen (Parsons et al. 1994). Increased growing degree days (GDD) have been positively correlated with faster wood decomposition (Finér et al. 2016). There was also found to be a positive interaction with nitrogen content, resulting in faster

decomposition of organic materials which have greater nitrogen content and exposed to higher temperatures (Finér et al. 2016). Therefore, balances of soil moisture and temperature not only contribute to carbon sequestration in above-ground productivity, but also below-ground processes of soil respiration and carbon storage.

3.2 MATERIALS & METHODS

Site Description

The Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project (GAPP) was an operational-scale silvopasture experiment designed to integrate commercial strip-thinning of timber with interim forage and range for cattle. The blocks were located 20 km east of Kelowna, British Columbia (B.C.), Canada (49.941°, -119.243°), with a mean elevation of 1375 m (Figure 10). These sites were within the Okanagan Dry Mild Montane Spruce Biogeoclimatic-variant (BGC)(MSdm1) with site series ranging from 03-06 (Lloyd et al. 1990; Curran et al. 2000). Previously logged in 1977, the stands were replanted with 100 % *Pinus contorta* (lodgepole pine). The stands were 45 years old at the time of harvest, between March and July 2018.



Figure 10. Map of research sites: Block A, Block B, and a clearcut, which are part the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project were commercially thinned in summer 2018.

Silvopasture & Commercial Strip-thinning Treatments

The randomized block design included two blocks, which each received four treatments: commercial strip-thinning of widths 10 m, 15 m, and 20 m, and a nonharvested control. The blocking factor was strip orientation. Block A had strips in northsouth orientations; whereas, strips in Bock B were in an east-west orientation (**Figure 10**). The 5 m difference between strip-widths was anticipated to have a limited effect size on all dependent variables, so 15 m strips were not observed in this particular study, allowing resources and analysis to focus on differences between the narrowest and widest strips (10 - 20 m). All blocks and controls received treatments during the same year, so stands were the same age.

Climate

A climate station was installed in the clearcut. A tipping-bucket rain gauge (HOBO RG3-M) was mounted 1.5 m above ground, which continuously measured and recorded rainfall with a datalogger (HOBO UA-003-64). An air temperature sensor (HOBO S-TMB-M002) was also mounted 1.5 m above ground with a solar radiation shield (HOBO M-RSA) and continuously recorded every 30 min with a datalogger (HOBO H21-USB).

Physical Soil Characteristics

Sixteen soil pits were dug in order to classify the soils and determine soil moisture sampling methods (Lloyd et al. 1990; SCWG 1998). An additional 30 pits were dug with establishment of soil moisture sampling stations, with one pit immediately adjacent to each station. For soil texture and soil organic carbon analysis, samples were collected at two depths (5 cm and 25 cm). Soil texture analysis was completed at the Analytical Laboratory of the BC Government, in Victoria BC, and was reported as percent composition of sand, silt, and clay.

Soil Organic Matter

Soil organic matter (SOM) content was measured using the loss on ignition (LOI) method. Approximately 500 mL of mineral soil was sampled from two depths, 5 cm and 25 cm, from each soil pit. Five sub-samples of 1.5 g were analyzed from each sample. To dry the sub-samples, they were placed into aluminum tin foil pans and heated at 105°C for 24 hours using a YAMATO forced convection constant temperature drying oven (DKN818, Yamato Scientific Co. Ltd). The soils were then weighed on an analytical scale and masses were recorded before placing the dried samples into the muffle furnace. The Barnstead Thermolyne 62700 furnace was used to ignite the soils at 500 °C for 5 hours. Samples remained in the desiccator for at least 30 minutes until room temperature was reached. Samples were weighed and recorded again one final time. The soil organic matter was calculated using the following equation (Wang et al. 2012):

Equation (1):

$$SOM_{LOI} = \frac{(Mass @ 105^{\circ}C) - (Mass @ 500^{\circ}C)}{Mass @ 105^{\circ}C}$$

Soil Bulk Density

Soil bulk density was measured and analyzed using the excavation method, due to the high coarse fragment content and rockiness of the soil (Gatea et al. 2018). Mineral soils were sampled as per Canada's National Forest Inventory Ground Sampling Guidelines (NFI 2008).

To maintain randomness in sampling, a two dimensional transect system was used in randomly selected strips of each treatment in each block. This system involved a 90 m transect placed parallel with the strip, and a second perpendicular transect running across the width of the strip. Random numbers were paired for each dimension. Field crews walked up the transect according to the random length drawn, and walked into the strip according to the random width drawn. The lengthwise transect was placed at a 1 m buffer from the forest edge, beginning with a buffer of 25 m from any roads, running parallel to the forest edge. This 90 m transect was binned into quarters: 0-22.5 m, 22.5-45 m, 45-67.5 m, 67.5-90 m. Two random numbers were drawn for each quartered bin to ensure sampling locations were uniformly distributed lengthwise down each strip. Two strips of each treatment were selected, 8 samples were drawn from each strip, resulting in 16 samples per treatment per block including non-harvested control areas. A total of 128 samples were used for the analysis of litter and bulk density.

Live green vegetation was clipped above the sample area. Forest floor was sampled with a 20 x 20 cm template above the hole from which mineral soil was sampled. Mineral and litter were separated individually; fermented and humic layers were included together in the same sample. Average depth of organic layers was recorded. Mineral soil was sampled in a cylindrical hole 10 cm in diameter and 15 cm deep. All material from the hole was included in the sample, including rocks and roots.

Mineral, fermented and humic soil samples were placed in a drying oven at 105°C, and litter samples were dried at 70 °C, for 24 hours or until a constant weight was achieved. Dried mineral samples were weighed before fine fractions were sieved to 2 mm. Fine fraction bulk density was calculated following the volume correction of coarse fragment content (>2 mm), assuming a particle density of 2.65 Mg/m³ (Blaisdell et al. 2003; Maynard and Curran 2006). Bulk density was calculated using the following equation (Krzic et al. 2010):

Equation (2):

Bulk Density
$$(Mg/m^3) = \frac{\text{Mass of dried fine material}}{\text{Volume of dried fine material}}$$

Coarse fragment content was calculated with the following equation:

Equation (3):

Coarse Fragment Content (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Volume of dried coarse material}}{\text{Total volume of mineral soil sample}} x 100$$

Soil Moisture & Temperature

Volumetric water content (VWC) was sampled in 10 m and 20 m harvested strips, as well as non-harvested controls, in blocks A and B. From May 2019 to October 2020, volumetric water content was continuously sampled every 30 minutes at two depths (0-10 cm and 25 cm below the soil surface). Soil temperature was also continuously measured at 5 cm depth. Each sampling station consisted of HOBO[®] Micro Stations (H21-USB) with Decagon[®] soil moisture sensors (S-SMD-M005) at both depths and HOBO[®] 12-bit temperature sensors (S-TMB-M006).

Sampling locations followed a stratified systematic approach. Strips in the center of each treatment were purposefully selected to reduce edge effects of other treatments, and also to overlap with snow measurements and other concurrent research on the site (Kega 2021). Stratification criteria included: >25 m from roads and >25 m from different treatments as a buffer for edge effects, centered within the strip between forest edges, mid-slope position, similar slope, similar aspect, no mottling within 35 cm of soil surface, and low enough proportions of coarse fragment material to allow manual digging and placement of sensors. This approach was also systematic, as stations were intended to be placed 50 m apart within the same strip, or on the same slope-position in adjacent strips. However, there was a limitation with the sensors, as they must be placed in a substrate free of rocks and gravel. If rocks were encountered 50 m from the last station, an attempt was made every meter from this point (down strip center) until a rock-free area was found. This approach resulted in full and even coverage of the targeted strata to be sampled. Due to differences in soil texture and SOM between treatments, VWC measurements were not calibrated to ensure standard objective observations.

Data Analysis

Data distributions were assessed graphically with plotted residuals and Shapiro-Wilk's test for assumptions of normality. Levene's test was used to confirm homogeneity of variances. Soil texture data did not have normally distributed residuals, so Kruskall-Wallis ANOVA and Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests were used.

Soil organic content was measured in grams (g), this weight was converted to a percentage of the dry-soil weight of the sample. This data was log-transformed to satisfy the parametric assumption of normality. ANOVA and Tukey post-hoc were used for statistical analysis of soil organic content.

Differences in volumetric water content (VWC) between treatments were analyzed with a linear mixed-effects model. Random variables were sampling date and sample station identification number. Fixed variables included harvested strip-width (treatment) and strip-orientation (block). The correlational structure was grouped by random variables: time and station identification number. A Tukey post-hoc was used for pairwise comparison.

Growing degree days equal to or greater than 5 °C were calculated by subtracting 5 °C from the average of daily maximum and minimum temperatures measured at each station. A threshold of 5 °C was selected, because previous studies have determined that a minimum soil temperature of 5 °C is required for most herbaceous crop and grass seeds to germinate (Dubetz et al. 1962; Singh and Dhaliwal 1972). Values were excluded if daily average was less than 5 °C. Cumulative degree days were calculated by summing the accumulation of growing degree days from a specified start date. Differences in growing degree days were analyzed with a linear mixed-effects model. Random variables were sampling date and sample station identification number. Fixed variables included harvested strip-width (treatment) and strip-orientation (block). The correlational structure was grouped by random variables: time and station identification number. A Tukey post-hoc was used for pairwise comparison.

3.3 RESULTS

Climate

Mean monthly temperatures were similar for both years, 2019 and 2020. Maximum temperatures were higher in summer 2020, reaching 32.6 °C; whereas, the maximum recorded temperature in 2019 was 29.4 °C. During the snow-free period (April 1 – September 1) there was more precipitation in 2020 than 2019, with 348 and 217.6 mm respectively. Summer 2020 had higher daytime temperatures and less precipitation (Appendix Figure B.1).

Soil Classification

Soils were determined to be of sandy loam texture, belonging to the order of luvisolic soils, as clay content increased with depth. Presence of mottling, within <50 cm of the surface showed a gleyed soil type which was imperfectly drained. These soils may be classified as gleyed gray-brown brunosolic-luvisols. Photos of two soil pits are displayed in Appendix Figures A.1-A.2. Soil texture composition of sand, silt, and clay-sized particles were consistent between 5 cm and 25 cm depths (P > 0.4) (**Figure 11, Table 5**).



Figure 11. Sandy loam soil texture determined for locations of all 30 soil moisture sensors on site (all blocks & treatments combined). Left (blue) was sampled at 5 cm depth, right (red) was sampled at 25 cm depth (n=30).

Table 5. Means of percent sand, silt, and clay compositions of soil samples taken at depths of 5 and 25 cm, from holes immediately adjacent to soil moisture monitoring stations (N=30).

Depth	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
5 cm	45.7	48.5	5.9
25 cm	47.0	47.4	5.6

Composition of sand and silt were consistent across all treatments, at both depths; however, clay composition tended to increase with harvested strip-width. At both depths, clay composition was approximately 2 % greater in 20 m harvested strips compared to non-harvested controls (**Figure 12, Table 8**). The block factor did not have significant influence on this effect (P=0.13) and there were no interactions between blocks and treatments (P=0.64).



Figure 12. Clay composition in soils of three treatments (non-harvested controls, 10 m, and 20 m harvested strips), at two depths (5 and 25 cm), sampled one-year post-harvest (2019). Different letters represent P<0.05 on Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests, within each series of depth (n=10).
Table 6. Results of Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests of clay composition in soils of three treatments (non-harvested controls, 10 m, and 20 m harvested strips), at two depths (5 and 25 cm), sampled one-year post-harvest (2019).

Depth	Treatment Comparison	Z-Stat	P-Value
5 cm	10 m – Non-harvested	2.07	0.058
5 cm	20 m – Non-harvested	3.09	0.006
5 cm	10 m – 20 m	-1.02	0.307
25 cm	10 m – Non-harvested	2.36	0.027
25 cm	20 m – Non-harvested	3.84	< 0.001
25 cm	10 m – 20 m	-1.48	0.138

Soil Organic Matter

On the soil surface, at 5 cm depth, percent composition of soil organic matter (SOM) increased with harvested strip-width (**Figure 13, Table 9**). Mean SOM was 12.7 % in 10 m strips and 20.0 % in 20 m strips (P<0.001). There was an effect of the block factor (P=0.003), as mean SOM in Block B was 4.3 % greater than Block A.

Mean mass of above-ground litter samples also increased with strip-width: 44.5 g in 10 m strips, 48.7 g in 15 m strips, and 61.2 g in 20 m strips. The 20 m strips had a mean litter mass 16.7 g greater (+38 %) than 10 m strips (P=0.027).



Figure 13. Soil organic matter (SOM) in soils of three treatments (non-harvested controls, 10 m, and 20 m harvested strips), at two depths (5 and 25 cm), sampled one-year post-harvest (n=25). Different letters represent P<0.01 on Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests, within each series of depth (n=5).

Table 7. Results of Dunn-Bonferroni pairwise comparison tests of soil organic matter (SOM) in soils of three treatments (non-harvested controls, 10 m, and 20 m harvested strips), at two depths (5 and 25 cm), sampled one-year post-harvest (2019).

Depth	Treatment Comparison	Z-Stat	P-Value
5 cm	10 m – Non-harvested	5.12	< 0.001
5 cm	20 m – Non-harvested	8.54	< 0.001
5 cm	10 m – 20 m	-3.37	< 0.001
25 cm	10 m – Non-harvested	2.14	0.048
25 cm	20 m – Non-harvested	2.19	0.086
25 cm	10 m – 20 m	-0.047	0.96

Bulk Density

There was a trend for bulk density to increase with harvested strip width. Mean soil bulk densities were 0.87 Mg/m³ in 10 m strips, 1.04 Mg/m³ in the 20 m strips, and 0.72 Mg/m³ in the non-harvested areas. The 20 m strips had 20 % greater mean density than 10 m strips (P=0.057). The 20 m strips had 44 % greater density than non-harvested areas (P<0.001). Results of organic layer observations and coarse fragment content were inconclusive, but included in Table D.1.

Soil Moisture

Maximum soil volumetric water content (VWC), at all depths in all treatments, peaked simultaneously with total snow disappearance in 2020. Peak VWC was not observed in 2019, because instruments were not fully installed until May 30.

VWC on Soil Surface

Differences in VWC were most noticeable on the surface (0-10 cm depth). On the soil surface, during the snow-free season of 2019 (June 1 – October 1), the 20 m strips maintained the most soil moisture with a mean VWC of 0.330 m³/m³. Whereas, 10 m

strips had a mean of 0.298 m³/m³ and non-harvested areas had a mean of 0.259 m³/m³. The 20 m strips maintained 11 % greater VWC than 10 m strips (P<0.001, R²=0.97), and 20 % greater VWC than non-harvested areas (P<0.001, R²=0.97) (**Figure 14**). East-west orientated strips maintained 10 % greater VWC relative to north-south strips, with means of 0.309 and 0.282 m³/m³ respectively (P<0.001). There was an interaction between strip-width and strip-orientation, where north-south orientation was associated with greater difference in VWC between treatments(P<0.001).



Figure 14. Surface soil (0-10 cm depth) volumetric water content continuously measured in the center of 10 and 20 m harvested strips and non-harvested control from June 1, 2019, to September 1, 2020. VWC units are a fraction of water volume measured in m^3/m^3 . Data includes observations from both north-south and east-west orientated strips of the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project (n=10). Shaded ribbons are 95% CI.

The soil surface, in harvested strips within treatments, maintained equivalent means of VWC during both snow-free and snow-covered seasons. Whereas, non-harvested areas experienced significant reduction of VWC during summer months with minimal precipitation. On the soil surface (0-10 cm depth), during the winter season (November 1, 2019 to April 1, 2020), the 20 m strips maintained 11 % greater VWC than 10 m strips (P<0.001, R²=0.98), and 20 % greater VWC than non-harvested areas (P<0.001, R²=0.98). The 20 m strips maintained a mean VWC of 0.330 m³/m³, 10 m strips had a mean of 0.298 m³/m³ and non-harvested areas had a mean of 0.276 m³/m³

Similar trends were seen in 2020. On the soil surface, during the snow-free season of 2020 (May 1 – October 1), the 20 m strips maintained the most soil moisture with a mean VWC of 0.353 m³/m³. Whereas, 10 m strips had a mean of 0.325 m³/m³ and non-harvested areas had a mean of 0.290 m³/m³. The 20 m strips maintained 9 % greater VWC than 10 m strips (P<0.001, R²=0.94), and 22 % greater VWC than non-harvested areas (P<0.001, R²=0.94).

VWC at 25 cm Depth

Strip-width had no effect on soil VWC at 25 cm depth. During the 2019 growing season (June 1 – Oct 1), 10 m and 20 m strips maintained mean VWC of 0.303 and 0.306 respectively at 25 cm depth (P=0.08, R²=0.96). Both 10 and 20 m strips maintained greater VWC than non-harvested areas, 20 and 22 % greater respectively (P<0.001, R²=0.96) (**Figure 15**). At 25 cm depth, during the winter season (November 1, 2019 to April 1, 2020), the 20 m strips maintained 1 % greater VWC compared to 10 m strips, with means of 0.320 and 0.316 m³/m³ respectively (P=0.001, R²=0.97). The non-harvested areas had a mean of 0.267 m³/m³.



Figure 15. Soil volumetric water content (25 cm depth) continuously measured in the center of 10 and 20 m harvested strips and non-harvested control from March 1, 2020, to September 1, 2020. Data includes observations from both north-south and east-west orientated strips of the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project (n=10). VWC units are a fraction of water volume measured in m^3/m^3 . Shaded ribbons are 95% CI.

Soil Temperature

During the growing seasons of (June 1 – September 1) of 2019 and 2020, harvested strips were associated with higher soil temperatures at 5 cm depth compared to non-harvested areas. The soil surface in 20 m strips had a mean daily maximum temperature 5.2 °C (42 %) greater than non-harvested areas, while mean maximum temperature in 10 m strips was 4.3 °C (35 %) greater than non-harvested areas (P < 0.001, R²=0.76).

There was an interaction observed between strip-width and strip-orientation on the effect of cumulative growing degree days (GDD) above 5 °C during June, July, and August of 2019 and 2020 (P<0.001). In east-west strips, GDD increased with increased strip-width (P = 0.004). East-west orientated 20 m strips accumulated a yearly average of 184 GDD more than 10 m strips (P=.035). Whereas, GDD was not influenced by strip-width in north-south strips (P=0.64).

3.4 DISCUSSION

Biologically available soil water content is often described using the least limiting water range approach (LLWR), which is bound between field capacity (FC) and permanent wilting point (PWP) (Seneviratne et al. 2010). LLWR has frequently been used to assess the limitations or availability of soil water in seedling germination studies (Blouin et al. 2008). During the period of this study, permanent wilting point (PWP) was never observed in any treatment. This was determined by the observation of continuous change in VWC, without ever approaching or achieving a constant PWP. The high non-permanent water table and mottling in this soil confirm that moisture is abundant on this site. Soil moisture may not be a limiting resource for vegetation on this particular site. However, results of this study showed that commercial strip-thinning did have a noticeable effect on soil moisture availability. The width of strips and their orientation both influenced VWC near the soil surface throughout the entire year.

Harvested areas maintained greater VWC than non-harvested areas, which is consistent with previous research (Adams et al. 1991; Gebhardt et al. 2014; Hannah et al. 2015). The differences in VWC are primarily the result of harvesting reducing overall stand transpiration and increasing throughfall (Spittlehouse et al. 2004; Famiglietti et al. 2008; Gebhardt et al. 2014). Although transpiration and precipitation throughfall were not measured in this study, they are major factors to consider with the observations as described in previous literature.

There were observable differences in the responses of soil moisture at the two different depths of 0-10 and 25 cm; greater effect size was observed closer to the soil surface. This was expected, as soil moisture is more responsive to climatic conditions; such as precipitation, temperature, relative humidity, and wind near the surface and response to these environmental factors decreases with depth (McMillan and Srinivasan 2015).

It has been well established that finer soil particle size provides greater surface area for hygroscopic moisture and more micro-pore space for capillary water holding

capacity (Susha Lekshmi et al. 2014). This difference in clay composition may have existed in these sites prior to treatments, as litter density and soil organic matter were also greater in wider strips. The approximate 2 % difference in clay content observed between treatments is not expected to have a significant impact on water holding capacity.

Bulk density has been observed to be effected by heavy machinery, but does trend back towards pre-harvest levels after one year post-harvest (Botta et al. 2006; Sakai et al. 2008; Wallace et al. 2021). The observed compaction would not be considered severe and the resulting bulk densities were well within the range ($0.7 - 1.15 \text{ g/cm}^3$) previously observed to have no effect on growth of *Pinus contorta* (lodgepole pine) seedlings (Zabowski et al. 2000).

Previous studies have shown how the probability of soil disturbance during harvesting is proportional to stand density (Sowa and Kulak 2008). A denser stand being harvested, results in more felling, pushing, pulling, dragging, scraping, lifting, and transportation of logs, compared to stands with fewer trees. All of these motions of heavy machinery and movement of pieces contribute to soil disturbance. Bulk density is the most common soil property used to assess compaction (Nawaz et al. 2013). It is well understood that increased compaction leads to increased bulk density, which is consistent with the findings of this study. It is important to acknowledge the effects of compaction on bulk density and the differences in clay content observed; however, these are minor factors in the overall effects of these treatments on soil moisture availability.

Soil organic matter content (SOM) was 7.3 % greater in 20 m strips compared to 10 m strips. It has been clearly established that greater SOM increases the water holding capacity of soil (Ise and Moorcroft 2006; Sierra et al. 2015). This trend in SOM was consistent with increased above-ground litter mass observed in wider strips. The observed positive correlation between litter mass and strip width contradicts the results of previous studies, which found a negative correlation between canopy gap size and

ground litter (Zhu et al. 2003). Previous studies have found positive correlations between amounts of litter and stand density (Fish et al. 2006). Although harvest treatments were allocated randomly, analysis of pre-harvest timber cruising data suggests that wider strips may have been harvested in areas with greater basal area of timber. Pre-harvest stand density may have been an uncontrolled variable in this study which affected litter inputs, which may indirectly influence organic matter content and water holding capacity of the soil.

Increasing strip width may also increase wind speed and turbulence, which has been shown to increase ground litter (Bilby and Heffner 2016; Webb et al. 2021). Litter input has been shown to increase soil organic matter (SOM) and soil moisture in pine plantations (Yun Wang et al. 2019). Soil texture, SOM, litter inputs, and bulk density may all influence the soil volumetric water content; however, the majority of influence on soil moisture is likely caused by timber harvesting, reduced transpiration, and increased throughfall (Spittlehouse et al. 2004; Famiglietti et al. 2008; Gebhardt et al. 2014).

Soil temperature was greater in both 10 m and 20 m strips compared to forested areas. This resulted in greater cumulative growing degree days (GDD) above the critical threshold of 5 °C. Beneath snow cover, soil temperatures were greater in narrower strips (i.e. 10 m). This observation was likely due to lesser snow-depth in narrower strips, which reduced the insulating capacity of the snow cover. Previous studies have observed air temperatures to have greater influence over soil temperatures when snowpack is reduced (Sanders-DeMott et al. 2018). Although warmer soil temperatures are beneficial for vegetative growth in the spring, reduced snow packs and the resulting reduction of insulation can be detrimental during freeze-thaw cycles with extremely low temperatures, and have the potential to cause root damage or increased herbivory (Sanders-DeMott et al. 2018).

Implications

Soil water content is often a limiting resource for forest productivity and carbon storage in temperate climates (Chimner et al. 2010; Pretzcsh et al. 2012). In some ecosystems, soil moisture has been observed to be a limiting resource for productivity of lodgepole pine (Pretzsch et al. 2012). This research site was mapped in the Montane Spruce biogeoclimatic zone (Hope at al. 1991). It is important to note that these zones typically have wetter soils; therefore, soil moisture may not be a limiting resource to the productivity of lodgepole pine within these zones.

In similar climate to the montane spruce zones of BC, East of the Rocky Mountains, previous studies have found various soil moisture and nutrient regimes had little to no influence on productivity of established lodgepole pine stands (Wang et al. 2004). With abundant moisture availability, differences in site productivity are rather due to differences in temperature and length of growing season associated with elevation (Wang et al. 2004). Although it was determined that moisture is abundant and currently not a limiting resource on the site discussed throughout this thesis, it is important to consider anomalies of drought years or other responses of potential climate change. For example, increased soil moisture availability may improve the resiliency of all vegetation to drought-stress. Frequent narrow strips, that increase stem spacing and decrease stand density, may be more beneficial for wide-scale tree productivity under drought conditions. Whereas, wider strips providing more soil moisture availability and more growing degree days may be more beneficial for growing forage or establishing conifer seedlings.

Nitrogen availability is often another limiting factor for forest productivity (Hunt et al. 1988). In soils, mineralization is the process involving the decomposition of organic nitrogen and release of ammonium (NH4⁺) (Vitousek and Matson 1985). Ammonium may then be converted to biologically available nitrate (NO₃) through the process of nitrification (Jaffe 2000). In montane pine stands, the amount of naturally occurring

ammonium is often limited; therefore, there is slow conversion of ammonium to nitrate and biologically available nitrate is usually depleted relatively quickly (Hunt et al. 1988; Jaffe 2000).

Mineralization rates have been observed to be relatively low in lodgepole pine stands, compared to other forest types (Fahey et al. 1985). Sites with warmer temperatures, greater moisture availability, and more aerobic conditions associated with higher coarse fragment content have demonstrated higher rates of mineralization (Hunt et al. 1988; Parsons et al. 1994; Jaffe 2000). The removal of trees, during the commercial thinning treatment, reduces the density of roots in the soil. This reduction of fine-root density has been associated with higher moisture levels, faster N mineralization and increased nitrification (Parsons et al. 1994). However, these effects are not realized until large enough root-gaps have been created. Larger gaps have been observed to have increased mineralization and nitrification rates, thus larger gaps have more available nitrate and total N to lower the C:N ratio (Parsons et al. 1994). Clearcuts in montane lodgepole pine forests have been found to increase soil nitrate (NO₃-) concentrations 10-40x that of undisturbed control stands (Knight et al. 1991). Therefore, wider harvested strips have the potential to increase rates of mineralization, due to the increased soil moisture and temperature. This effect may be greater in years with limited precipitation and warmer temperatures. These findings also suggest that wider strips may have a greater benefit from fertilization.

The majority of mineralization occurs during snow-free growing seasons (Fahey et al. 1985). In temperate montane forests, nitrogen mineralization has been found to peak in the spring, immediately after snow disappearance (Parsons et al. 1994). Soil temperatures can be warmer beneath snow, relative to open areas or clear cuts, as the snowpack provides insulation (Hunt et al. 1988). If forest floors and soils are not frozen, then decomposition can have an early start beneath the snow. This justifies further research into the dynamics between snow-depth and soil temperature.

Sites with greater water availability are also more resistant to weather anomalies associated with climate change, such as droughts or extreme precipitation events (McLaughlin et al. 2017). Hydrological processes are direct influencers of ecological succession through natural disturbance regimes. Water volumes are directly linked to floods, slides, and avalanches, while atmospheric, soil, and foliar moistures are all related to wildfires. Water inherently shapes our landscapes through these natural disasters; however, these incidents pose a challenge for Emergency Management BC, BC Wildfire Service, and numerous industries.

3.5 CONCLUSION

Commercial strip-thinning has direct effects on surface soil moisture and temperature. The wider 20 m strips maintained greater soil moisture than 10 m strips throughout the year, even throughout winter. The narrower 10 m strips did retain more soil moisture during the drier summer months of 2020, when there were below average rates of precipitation. Strip-orientation also influenced soil moisture during this dry summer. Under dry conditions, east-west orientated strips maintained greater soil moisture than north-south. Greater soil temperatures were also observed in wider 20 m strips, compared to 10 m strips. Soil temperature was greater in both 10 m and 20 m strips compared to forested areas. This resulted in greater cumulative growing degree days (GDD) above the critical threshold of 5 °C.

3.6 LITERATURE CITED

- Adams PW, Flint AL, Fredriksen RL. 1991. Long-term patterns in soil moisture and revegetation after a clearcut of a Douglas-fir forest in Oregon. For Ecol Manage. 41(3–4):249–263. doi:10.1016/0378-1127(91)90107-7.
- Almagro M, López J, Querejeta JI, Martínez-Mena M. 2009. Temperature dependence of soil CO2 efflux is strongly modulated by seasonal patterns of moisture availability in a Mediterranean ecosystem. Soil Biol Biochem. 41(3):594–605. doi:10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2008.12.021.
- Arroyo-Rodríguez V, Fahrig L, Tabarelli M, Watling JI, Tischendorf L, Benchimol M, Cazetta E, Faria D, Leal IR, Melo FPL, et al. 2020. Designing optimal human-modified landscapes for forest biodiversity conservation. Ecol Lett. 23(9):1404–1420. doi:10.1111/ELE.13535.
- Bilby RE, Heffner JT. 2016. Factors influencing litter delivery to streams. For Ecol Manage. 369:29–37. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2016.03.031.

Blaisdell R, Conant R, Dick W. 2003. Recommended procedures for collecting, processing, and analyzing soil samples in CASMGS research plots. researchgate.net. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Warren-Dick/publication/237453020_Recommended_Procedures_for_Collecting_Processing_an d_Analyzing_Soil_Samples_in_CASMGS_Research_Plots/links/53f4e46d0cf22be01c3ef3 09/Recommended-Procedures-for-Collecting-Processing-and-Analyzing-Soil-Samples-in-CASMGS-Research-Plots.pdf.

- Blouin VM, Schmidt MG, Bulmer CE, Krzic M. 2008. Effects of compaction and water content on lodgepole pine seedling growth. Forest Ecology and Management. 255(7):2444-52.
- Botta GF, Jorajuria D, Rosatto H, Ferrero C. 2006. Light tractor traffic frequency on soil compaction in the Rolling Pampa region of Argentina. Soil Tillage Res. 86(1):9–14. doi:10.1016/j.still.2005.01.014.
- Bürli S, Theurillat JP, Winkler M, Lamprecht A, Pauli H, Rixen C, Steinbauer K, Wipf S, Abdaladze O, Andrews C, et al. 2021. A common soil temperature threshold for the upper limit of alpine grasslands in European mountains. Alp Bot. 131(1):41–52. doi:10.1007/S00035-021-00250-1/FIGURES/3. [accessed 2022 Mar 28]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00035-021-00250-1.
- Chimner RA, Welker JM, Morgan J, LeCain D, Reeder J. 2010. Experimental manipulations of winter snow and summer rain influence ecosystem carbon cycling in a mixed-grass prairie, Wyoming, USA. Ecohydrology. 3(3):284-93.
- Curran M, Davis I, Mitchell B. 2000. Sylviculture prescription data collection field handbook: interpretative guide for data collection, site stratification, and sensitivity evaluation for silviculture prescription Land Management Handbook 47.

Dubetz S, Russell GC, Anderson DT. 1962. Effect of soil temperature on seedling emergence. Can J Plant Sci. 42(3):481–487. doi:10.4141/CJPS62-076.

- Fahey TJ, Yavitt JB, Pearson JA, Knight DH. 1985. The nitrogen cycle in lodgepole pine forests, southeastern Wyoming. Biogeochemistry. 1(3):257–275. doi:10.1007/BF02187202. [accessed 2020 Dec 15]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02187202.
- Famiglietti JS, Ryu Dongryeol, Berg Aaron A, Rodell Matthew, Jackson Thomas J, Famiglietti C:, Ryu D, Berg A A, Rodell M, Jackson T J. 2008. Field observations of soil moisture variability across scales. Water Resour Res. 44(1). doi:10.1029/2006WR005804.
 [accessed 2022 Apr 12].
 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1029/2006WR005804.
- Finér L, Jurgensen M, Palviainen M, Piirainen S, Page-Dumroese D. 2016. Does clear-cut harvesting accelerate initial wood decomposition? A five-year study with standard wood material. For Ecol Manage. 372:10–18. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2016.03.060.
- Fish H, Lieffers VJ, Silins U, Hall RJ. 2006. Crown shyness in lodgepole pine stands of varying stand height, density, and site index in the upper foothills of Alberta. Can J For Res. 36(9):2104–2111. doi:10.1139/X06-107.

Frank AB. 1991. Morphological Development of Crested and Western Wheatgrass Following Grazing. Agron J. 83(5):826–828. doi:10.2134/AGRONJ1991.00021962008300050010X.

- Gatea A, Kouzani A, Kaynak A, Norton M, Abed A, Al-Shammary G, Kouzani AZ, Khoo SY, Gates W. 2018. Analysis of Harvesting Conventional and Non-conventional Renewable Energy Resources for Electrical Power Generation View project Soil Bulk Density Estimation Methods: A Review. Pedosphere. 28(4):581–596. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(18)60034-7. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327407343.
- Gebhardt T, Häberle KH, Matyssek R, Schulz C, Ammer C. 2014. The more, the better? Water relations of Norway spruce stands after progressive thinning. Agric For Meteorol. 197:235–243. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.05.013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.05.013.
- Guerrieri R, Belmecheri S, Ollinger SV, Asbjornsen H, Jennings K, Xiao J, Stocker BD, Martin M, Hollinger DY, Bracho-Garrillo R, Clark K. 2019. Disentangling the role of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance on rising forest water-use efficiency.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 116(34):16909-14.
- Hannah L, Flint L, Syphard AD, Moritz MA, Buckley LB, McCullough IM. 2015. Place and process in conservation planning for climate change: A reply to Keppel and Wardell-Johnson. Trends Ecol Evol. 30(5):234–235. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2015.03.008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.03.008.

- Hirschi M, Seneviratne SI, Alexandrov V, Boberg F, Boroneant C, Christensen OB, Formayer H, Orlowsky B, Stepanek P. 2010. Observational evidence for soil-moisture impact on hot extremes in southeastern Europe. Nat Geosci 2010 41. 4(1):17–21. doi:10.1038/ngeo1032. [accessed 2022 Mar 28]. https://www.nature.com/articles/ngeo1032.
- Hunt HW, Ingham ER, Coleman DC, Elliott ET, Reid CPP. 1988. Nitrogen limitation of production and decomposition in prairie, mountain meadow, and pine forest. Ecology. 69(4):1009–1016. doi:10.2307/1941256. [accessed 2020 Dec 16]. https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2307/1941256.
- Ise T, Moorcroft PR. 2006. The global-scale temperature and moisture dependencies of soil organic carbon decomposition: an analysis using a mechanistic decomposition model. Biogeochemistry80(3):217-31. Jaffe DA. 2000. 12 The nitrogen cycle. In: International Geophysics. Vol. 72. Academic Press. p. 322–342.
- Kega, S. 2021. Evaluating the potential for increased forage productivity and soil carbon sequestration in strip-thinned silvopastures [MSc dissertation]. Thompson Rivers University. 98 p.
- Knight DH, Yavitt JB, Joyce GD. 1991. Water and nitrogen outflow from lodgepole pine forest after two levels of tree mortality. For Ecol Manage. 46(3–4):215–225. doi:10.1016/0378-1127(91)90233-L.
- Korres W, Reichenau TG, Fiener P, Koyama CN, Bogena HR, Cornelissen T, Baatz R, Herbst M, Diekkrüger B, Vereecken H, et al. 2015. Spatio-temporal soil moisture patterns – A meta-analysis using plot to catchment scale data. J Hydrol. 520:326–341. doi:10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2014.11.042.
- Koster RD, Dirmeyer PA, Guo Z, Bonan G, Chan E, Cox P, Gordon CT, Kanae S, Kowalczyk E, Lawrence D, et al. 2004. Regions of Strong Coupling Between Soil Moisture and Precipitation. Science (80-). 305(5687):1138–1140. doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.1100217. [accessed 2022 Mar 28]. https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.1100217.
- Krzic M, Naugler T, Dyanatkar S, Crowley C. 2010. Virtual Soil Lab Modules. The University of British Columbia, Vancouver. [https://labmodules.soilweb.ca/soil-compaction-bulk-density/
- Kupfer JA, Cairns DM. 1996. The suitability of montane ecotones as indicators of global climatic change. Prog Phys Geogr. 20(3):253–272. doi:10.1177/030913339602000301.
- Lin HS, Kogelmann W, Walker C, Bruns MA. 2006. Soil moisture patterns in a forested catchment: a hydropedological perspective. Geoderma. 131(3-4): 345–68.
- Lloyd D, Angove K, Hope G, Thompson C. 1990. A guide to site identification and interpretation for the Kamloops Forest Region Land Management Handbook 23.

Lopushinsky W, Max TA. 1990. Effect of soil temperature on root and shoot growth and on budburst timing in conifer seedling transplants. New For. 4(2):107–124. doi:10.1007/BF00119004.

Maynard D, Curran M. 2006. Bulk density measurement in forest soils. Carter M, Gregorich E, editors. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kamal-Karim-3/post/Can-anyone-suggest-me-simple-protocols-for-soil-analysis/attachment/59d653e179197b80779aba47/AS%3A519479371067392%4015008 64941715/download/Soil+Sampling+and+Methods+of+Analysis%2C+Second+Edition.pd f#.

- McLaughlin BC, Ackerly DD, Klos PZ, Natali J, Dawson TE, Thompson SE. 2017. Hydrologic refugia, plants, and climate change. Global Change Biology. 23(8):2941-61.
- McMillan HK, Srinivasan MS. 2015. Characteristics and controls of variability in soil moisture and groundwater in a headwater catchment. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci. 19(4):1767–1786. doi:10.5194/HESS-19-1767-2015.

Morrow LA, Power JF. 1979. Effect of Soil Temperature on Development of Perennial Forage Grasses1. Agron J. 71(1):7–10. doi:10.2134/AGRONJ1979.00021962007100010002X. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2134/agronj1979.00021962007100010002x.

Nawaz MF, Bourrié G, Trolard F. 2013. Soil compaction impact and modelling. A review. Agron Sustain Dev. 33(2):291–309. doi:10.1007/s13593-011-0071-8.

- [NFI]. Canadian Forest Inventory Committee. Canada's National Forest Inventory Ground Sampling Guidelines. 2008. [updated 2008 Oct; cited 2021 Mar 3]. Available from: https://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications/download-pdf/29402
- Onwuka Brown M, Cusack D, Lydon S, Karpman J, Onwuka B M. 2016. Effects of soil temperature on Some Soil properties and plant growth. Sch J Agric Sci. 6(3):89–93. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. http://www.scholarly-journals.com/SJAS.
- Parsons WFJ, Knight DH, Miller SL. 1994. Root gap dynamics in lodgepole pine forest: Nitrogen transformations in gaps of different size. Ecol Appl. 4(2):354–362. doi:10.2307/1941939.
- Peng YY, Dang QL. 2003. Effects of soil temperature on biomass production and allocation in seedlings of four boreal tree species. For Ecol Manage. 180(1–3):1–9. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00486-3.
- Pretzsch H, Uhl E, Biber P, Schütze G, Coates KD. 2012. Change of allometry between coarse root and shoot of Lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta Dougl. ex. Loud) along a stress gradient in the sub-boreal forest zone of British Columbia. Scandinavian journal of forest research. 27(6):532-44.
- Rodriguez-Iturbe I, D'Odorico P, Porporato A, Ridolfi L. 1999. On the spatial and temporal links between vegetation, climate, and soil moisture. Water Resour Res. 35(12):3709–

3722. doi:10.1029/1999WR900255. [accessed 2022 Mar 28]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1029/1999WR900255.

- Sakai H, Nordfjell T, Suadicani K, Talbot B, Bøllehuus E. 2008. Soil compaction on forest soils from different kinds of tires and tracks and possibility of accurate estimate. Croatian Journal of Forest Engineering: Journal for Theory and Application of Forestry Engineering. 29(1):15-27.
- Sanders-DeMott R, McNellis R, Jabouri M, Templer PH. 2018. Snow depth, soil temperature and plant–herbivore interactions mediate plant response to climate change. J Ecol. 106(4):1508–1519. doi:10.1111/1365-2745.12912. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1365-2745.12912.
- Seneviratne SI, Corti T, Davin EL, Hirschi M, Jaeger EB, Lehner I, Orlowsky B, Teuling AJ. Investigating soil moisture–climate interactions in a changing climate: A review. Earth-Science Reviews. 99(3-4):125-61.
- Sierra CA, Trumbore SE, Davidson EA, Vicca S, Janssens I. 2015. Sensitivity of decomposition rates of soil organic matter with respect to simultaneous changes in temperature and moisture. J Adv Model Earth Syst. 7(1):335–356. doi:10.1002/2014MS000358. [accessed 2022 Apr 12]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/2014MS000358.
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW. 2007. The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agric For Meteorol. 143(3–4):266–276. doi:10.1016/J.AGRFORMET.2007.01.003.
- Singh NT, Dhaliwal GS. 1972. Effect of soil temperature on seedling emergence in different crops. Plant Soil. 37(2):441–444. doi:10.1007/BF02139989.
- Soil Classification Working Group (SCWG). 1998. The Canadian system of soil classification.
 3rd ed. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Publ. 1646, (revised) NRC Research Press,
 Ottawa, 187 pp. [Online]. Available from
 https://sis.agr.gc.ca/cansis/publications/manuals/1998-cssc-ed3/index.html
- Sowa J, Kulak D. 2008. Probability of occurrence of soil disturbances during timber harvesting. Croat J For Eng J Theory Appl For Eng. 29(1):29–39.
- Spittlehouse DL, Adams RS, Winkler RD. 2004. Forest, Edge, and Opening Microclimate at Sicamous Creek Research Report 24. Minist For For Sci Progr. 6721(250):114–128.

Susha Lekshmi SU, Singh DN, Shojaei Baghini M. 2014. A critical review of soil moisture measurement. Meas J Int Meas Confed. 54:92–105. doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2014.04.007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2014.04.007.

Teuling AJ, Troch PA. 2005. Improved understanding of soil moisture variability dynamics. Geophys Res Lett. 32(5):1–4. doi:10.1029/2004GL021935. [accessed 2022 Mar 28]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1029/2004GL021935.

- Traff DC, Niemann JD, Middlekauff SA, Lehman BM. 2015. Effects of woody vegetation on shallow soil moisture at a semiarid montane catchment. Ecohydrology. 8(5):935–947. doi:10.1002/ECO.1542.
- Vereecken H, Maes J, Feyen J, Darius P. 1989. Estimating the soil moisture retention characteristic from texture, bulk density, and carbon content. Soil Science. 148(6): 389–403.
- Vitousek PM, Matson PA. 1985. Disturbance, nitrogen availability, and nitrogen losses in an intensively managed loblolly pine plantation. Ecology. 66(4): 1360-76.
- Wallace B, Bulmer C, Hope G, Curran M, Philpott T, Murray M. 2021. Soil compaction and organic matter removal effects on soil properties and tree growth in the Interior Douglas-fir zone of southern British Columbia. For Ecol Manage. 494:119268. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2021.119268.
- Wang GG, Huang S, Monserud RA, Klos RJ. 2004. Lodgepole pine site index in relation to synoptic measures of climate, soil moisture and soil nutrients. For Chron. 80(6):678–686. doi:10.5558/tfc80678-6.
- Wang X, Wang J, Zhang J. 2012. Comparisons of three methods for organic and inorganic carbon in calcareous soils of northwestern China. PLoS One 7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044334
- Wang Y, Zhang C, Zhang G, Wang L, Gao Y, Wang X, Liu B, Zhao X, Mei H. 2019. Carbon input manipulations affecting microbial carbon metabolism in temperate forest soils – A comparative study between broadleaf and coniferous plantations. Geoderma. 355:113914. doi:10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2019.113914.
- Webb NP, McCord SE, Edwards BL, Herrick JE, Kachergis E, Okin GS, Van Zee JW. 2021. Vegetation Canopy Gap Size and Height: Critical Indicators for Wind Erosion Monitoring and Management. Rangel Ecol Manag. 76:78–83. doi:10.1016/J.RAMA.2021.02.003.
- Wilhelm RC, Cardenas E, Maas KR, Leung H, McNeil L, Berch S, Chapman W, Hope G, Kranabetter JM, Dubé S, et al. 2017. Biogeography and organic matter removal shape long-term effects of timber harvesting on forest soil microbial communities. 11(11):2552–2568. doi:10.1038/ismej.2017.109. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://www.nature.com/articles/ismej2017109.
- Zabowski D, Java B, Scherer G, Everett RL, Ottmar R. 2000. Timber harvesting residue treatment: Part 1. Responses of conifer seedlings, soils and microclimate. For Ecol Manage. 126(1):25–34. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00081-X.
- Zhao M, Boll J, Brooks ES. 2021. Evaluating the effects of timber harvest on hydrologically sensitive areas and hydrologic response. J Hydrol. 593:125805. doi:10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2020.125805.

Zhu JJ, Matsuzaki T, Lee FQ, Gonda Y. 2003. Effect of gap size created by thinning on seedling emergency, survival and establishment in a coastal pine forest. Forest Ecology and Management. 182(1-3):339-54. PLoS One 7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044334

4.0 CHAPTER 4 – MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS & FUTURE RESEARCH

Extensive harvesting, insect damage, fungal pathogens, and wildfires have severely reduced timber supply in the interior of B.C. (Kurz et al. 2008; Alfaro et al. 2015; BC Government 2018, 2019). Available first-growth timber supplies are expected to continue to decline before reliance will shift entirely onto replanted stands (BC Government 2019). Demand for alternative forest harvesting methods is at an all-time high in Canada and is increasing globally, especially for replanted stands (Fox 2000; Puettmann et al. 2015; Halofsky et al. 2018). Agroforestry is one form of integrated resource management that has the potential to help satisfy multiple levels of objectives, from site-level to watershed scales (Anderson et al. 2008; Udawatta et al. 2011). This study demonstrated how commercial thinning of timber, combined with silvopastural alley cropping of agronomic grasses, may help satisfy multiple land objectives.

In Chapter 1, we discussed six primary criteria which silvopastures on provincial tenure must aim to achieve in British Columbia (B.C.), Canada (**Table 1**). Sustainable resource management involves the assurance of future supply and productivity of natural resources (Gilani and Innes 2020). Priority objectives of the *Forest and Range Practices Act* include stewardship of timber, forage, soils, water, wildlife, and biodiversity (FRPA 2004). Carefully designed silvopastures have the potential to help with sustainable management of each of these resources and provincial objectives.

Alley cropping was the form of silvopasture used in this study, which provided increased habitat, and therefore productivity, of herbaceous forage species utilized by wildlife and livestock. Commercially thinned strips of all widths provided greater forage productivity than un-thinned stands, and forage productivity increased with strip width (Kega 2021).

Timber productivity may be increased with strategic thinning designs. Previous studies have observed thinning of lodgepole pine stands to increase timber productivity by increasing radial growth and sap flow through reallocation of site resources

including: water, sunlight, and soil nutrients (Lagergren et al. 2008; Moreno and Cubera 2008; Moreaux et al. 2011; Skubel et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). A review of lodgepole thinning experiments determined that stand thinning may increase radial growth and volumes of individual trees, but excessive thinning may reduce the overall basal area and volume of the entire stand up to 20 years post-thinning (Johnstone and van Thienen 2011). Beneficial effects of thinning have been observed at up to 3 m stem spacing (Wang et al. 2019), which is less than one-third of the spacing in our lightest thinning treatment of 10 m stem spacing. This suggests that 10-20 m wide strip-thinning may be too wide of spacing for optimal timber production, but offers a trade-off of microclimates suited for understory and herbaceous forage species. This trade-off can also be viewed as a diversification of economies, which brings its own financial resiliency that may be studied from an economical perspective. National food security and sustainable agriculture are important social values that must also be considered. The effect of strip-width on timber growth is currently being investigated (Spencer unpublished 2022). The effects of net carbon sequestration could also be investigated further to include above and below ground carbon storage, as well as CO₂ flux and soil emissions.

The differences in soil bulk density between treatments suggest that harvest operations do bring a recognizable amount of soil disturbance, which is typical with any form of timber harvesting. Bulk density has been observed to be affected by heavy machinery one year post-harvest, but does trend back towards pre-harvest levels over several years (Botta et al. 2006; Sakai et al. 2008; Wallace et al. 2021). Overall, soil disturbance was relatively low, but future harvesting operations may consider winter harvesting in wetter areas to minimize disturbance as much as possible.

With regards to water stewardship, we did observe increased snowpacks in wider strips. The 20 m strips accumulated more snow than the clearcut. There was also greater soil moisture, to depths of 25 cm, in wider strips throughout the entire year. As discussed in Chapter Three, increased soil moisture and temperature with increasing strip-width may accelerate nitrogen mineralization (Hunt et al. 1988; Parsons et al.

1994). Drought stress not only limits the amount of biologically available moisture for vegetation, but also limits microbial activity, soil respiration, nitrogen mineralization, and nutrient availability (Wilhelm et al. 2017). Adequate soil moisture is necessary for successful fertilization treatments (Cole et al. 1990; Rose and Ketchum 2011). Further research may explore the interaction between strip-width and efficacy of fertilization treatments with the optimal combination of soil moisture and temperature.

It is important to note that the observed effects of strip-thinning widths on hydrological processes are proportional to the ratio of strip-width to surrounding tree heights. Therefore, the desired strip-width will depend on the biogeoclimatic zone, site index, and tree species in question. Furthermore, it is essential to consider the current height of the stand, growth rates, and potential heights during the period for which foresters are planning.

Soil moisture can also be limiting to land management objectives, as there is often competition between understory vegetation and tree seedlings, as is the case with conifers and tall grasses in drier climates (Wallace et al. 2021). Soil moisture did not appear to be a limiting resource on this site; however, moisture regimes continue to change with climate change. Future studies may investigate the effects of strip-thinning on a broader watershed scale, including: peak stream flows, ground water, and optimal water usage on site.

Snow-depth and tree cover are critical factors that influence ungulate winter ranges (UWR) (Safford 2004). Narrower strips would be more beneficial in UWR due to reduced snow accumulation. An east-west orientation of these narrower strips was also observed to cause quicker snow disappearance in reserve strips, between harvested strips. Quicker snow ablation and earlier growth of forage is essential for ungulates, such as moose and mule deer (Safford 2004). Land managers must consider the widths of strips and how the aspect and orientation of those strips influences wildlife habitat.

A mixture of various strip-widths and orientations over diverse terrain, results in a diversity of microenvironments, which in turn results in increased biodiversity (Wei et al.

2020). Diversity of microenvironments leads to diverse timings of snow disappearance, seed germination, and vegetative growth. In this way, an assortment of thinning treatments on a single site can achieve objectives of biodiversity.

Alternatively, these observations can be used to implement control over more uniform and desirable rates of ablation and timing of disappearance. More control over the timing of snow disappearance may be used to influence the timing of forage availability. We observed significant differences in cumulative growing degree days, in soil temperature, between the various treatments. Stands can be strategically designed to increase the amount of growing degree days, which has the potential to facilitate secondary re-growth phases in herbaceous forage (Frank 1991). Manipulation of forest structure to maximize solar radiation, soil temperature, and water availability can ultimately be used to provide increased forage quality and quantity for livestock and wildlife.

In regards to climate change mitigation, thinning of lodgepole pine has been suggested to help offset the negative effects of drought by reallocation of moisture availability (Misson et al. 2003; Simonin et al. 2007; Kohler et al. 2010; Rodríguez-Calcerrada et al. 2011; Sohn et al. 2013; Elkin et al. 2015; del Río et al. 2017; Ambrose et al. 2018; Cabon et al. 2018; Park et al. 2018). Sites with greater water availability are more resistant to weather anomalies associated with climate change, such as droughts or extreme precipitation events (McLaughlin et al. 2017). Hydrological processes are direct influencers of ecological succession, through processes which influence vegetative productivity and through natural disturbance regimes. Water volumes are directly linked to floods, slides, and avalanches, while atmospheric, soil, and foliar moistures are all related to wildfires. Water inherently shapes our landscapes through these natural disasters; however, these incidents pose a challenge for Emergency Management BC, BC Wildfire Service, and numerous industries.

4.1 LITERATURE CITED

- Alfaro RI, Akker L Van, Hawkes B. 2015. Characteristics of forest legacies following two mountain pine beetle outbreaks in British Columbia, Canada. Can J For Res. 45(10):1387–1396. doi:10.1139/cjfr-2015-0042.
- Ambrose AR, Baxter WL, Martin RE, Francis E, Asner GP, Nydick KR, Dawson TE. 2018. Leaf- and crown-level adjustments help giant sequoias maintain favorable water status during severe drought. For Ecol Manage. 419–420:257–267. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.01.012.
- Anderson SH, Udawatta RP, Seobi T, Garrett HE. 2008. Soil water content and infiltration in agroforestry buffer strips. Agrofor Syst 2008 751. 75(1):5–16. doi:10.1007/S10457-008-9128-3. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-008-9128-3.
- [BC Government] Ministry of Forests, Lands, and Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development. [Internet]. 2018. Victoria (BC): Government of British Columbia. [2018 Feb; cited 2019 Mar 02]. Available from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-andindustry/forestry/stewardship/forest-analysis-inventory/impacts 2017 fires.pdf
- [BC Government] Ministry of Forests, Lands, and Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development. [Internet]. 2019. Victoria (BC): Government of British Columbia. [2018 Mar 28; cited 2019 Mar 02]. Available from: http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/soe/indicators/land/timber-harvest.html
- Botta GF, Jorajuria D, Rosatto H, Ferrero C. 2006. Light tractor traffic frequency on soil compaction in the Rolling Pampa region of Argentina. Soil Tillage Res. 86(1):9–14. doi:10.1016/j.still.2005.01.014.
- Cabon A, Mouillot F, Lempereur M, Ourcival JM, Simioni G, Limousin JM. 2018. Thinning increases tree growth by delaying drought-induced growth cessation in a Mediterranean evergreen oak coppice. For Ecol Manage. 409:333–342. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.11.030.
- Cole DW, David Ford E, Turner J. 1990. Nutrients, moisture and productivity of established forests. For Ecol Manage. 30(1–4):283–299. doi:10.1016/0378-1127(90)90143-Y.
- Elevitch CR, Mazaroli ND, Ragone D. 2018. Agroforestry standards for regenerative agriculture. Sustain. 10(9). doi:10.3390/su10093337.
- Elkin C, Giuggiola A, Rigling A, Bugmann H. 2015. Short- and long-term efficacy of forest thinning to mitigate drought impacts in mountain forests in the European Alps. Ecol Appl. 25(4):1083–1098. doi:10.1890/14-0690.1. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1890/14-0690.1.

Forest Act. 1996. Forest Act (BC). [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96157_00.

- Fox TR. 2000. Sustained productivity in intensively managed forest plantations. For Ecol Manage. 138(1–3):187–202. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00396-0.
- Frank AB. 1991. Morphological Development of Crested and Western Wheatgrass Following Grazing. Agron J. 83(5):826–828. doi:10.2134/AGRONJ1991.00021962008300050010X.
- [FRPA]. 2004. Forest and Range Practices Act Forest Planning and Practices Regulation. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/14_2004#sectio n6.
- Gilani HR, Innes JL. 2020. The State of British Columbia's Forests: A Global Comparison. For 2020, Vol 11, Page 316. 11(3):316. doi:10.3390/F11030316. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/11/3/316/htm.
- Halofsky JE, Andrews-Key SA, Edwards JE, Johnston MH, Nelson HW, Peterson DL, Schmitt KM, Swanston CW, Williamson TB. 2018. Adapting forest management to climate change: The state of science and applications in Canada and the United States. For Ecol Manage. 421(October 2017):84–97. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.037. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.02.037.
- Hunt HW, Ingham ER, Coleman DC, Elliott ET, Reid CPP. 1988. Nitrogen limitation of production and decomposition in prairie, mountain meadow, and pine forest.
 Ecology. 69(4):1009–1016. doi:10.2307/1941256. [accessed 2020 Dec 16].
 https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2307/1941256.
- Johnstone W, van Thienen F. 2011. The effects of plantation density on the growth and yield of lodgepole pine: 20-year results. Vernon. [accessed 2021 Jun 24]. https://www.for.gov.bc.ca/hfd/pubs/Docs/En/En102.pdf.
- Jose S. 2009. Agroforestry for ecosystem services and environmental benefits: An overview. Agrofor Syst. 76(1):1–10. doi:10.1007/s10457-009-9229-7. [accessed 2021 Jun 17]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10457-009-9229-7.
- Kega, S. 2021. Evaluating the potential for increased forage productivity and soil carbon sequestration in strip-thinned silvopastures [MSc dissertation]. Thompson Rivers University. 98 p.
- Kim DG, Kirschbaum MUF, Beedy TL. 2016. Carbon sequestration and net emissions of CH4 and N2O under agroforestry: Synthesizing available data and suggestions for future studies. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 226:65–78. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.011. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.011.

- Kohler M, Sohn J, Nägele G, Bauhus J. 2010. Can drought tolerance of Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.) be increased through thinning? Eur J For Res 2010 1296. 129(6):1109–1118. doi:10.1007/S10342-010-0397-9. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10342-010-0397-9.
- Kurz WA, Dymond CC, Stinson G, Rampley GJ, Neilson ET, Carroll AL, Ebata T, Safranyik L.
 2008. Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. Nature.
 452(7190):987–990. doi:10.1038/nature06777.
- Lagergren F, Lankreijer H, Kučera J, Cienciala E, Mölder M, Lindroth A. 2008. Thinning effects on pine-spruce forest transpiration in central Sweden. For Ecol Manage. 255(7):2312–2323. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2007.12.047.
- McLaughlin BC, Ackerly DD, Klos PZ, Natali J, Dawson TE, Thompson SE. 2017. Hydrologic refugia, plants, and climate change. Global Change Biology. 23(8):2941-61.
- Misson L, Nicault A, Guiot J. 2003. Effects of different thinning intensities on drought response in Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.). For Ecol Manage. 183(1–3):47–60. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00098-7.
- Moreaux V, Lamaud É, Bosc A, Bonnefond JM, Medlyn BE, Loustau D. 2011. Paired comparison of water, energy and carbon exchanges over two young maritime pine stands (Pinus pinaster Ait.): effects of thinning and weeding in the early stage of tree growth. Tree Physiol. 31(9):903–921. doi:10.1093/TREEPHYS/TPR048. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://academic.oup.com/treephys/article/31/9/903/1675626.
- Moreno G, Cubera E. 2008. Impact of stand density on water status and leaf gas exchange in Quercus ilex. For Ecol Manage. 254(1):74–84. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2007.07.029.
- Nitschke CR, Innes JL. 2008. Integrating climate change into forest management in South-Central British Columbia: An assessment of landscape vulnerability and development of a climate-smart framework. For Ecol Manage. 256(3):313–327. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2008.04.026.
- Park J, Kim T, Moon M, Cho S, Ryu D, Seok Kim H. 2018. Effects of thinning intensities on tree water use, growth, and resultant water use efficiency of 50-year-old Pinus koraiensis forest over four years. For Ecol Manage. 408:121–128. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.09.031.
- Parsons WFJ, Knight DH, Miller SL. 1994. Root gap dynamics in lodgepole pine forest: Nitrogen transformations in gaps of different size. Ecol Appl. 4(2):354–362. doi:10.2307/1941939.
- Puettmann KJ, Wilson SMG, Baker SC, Donoso PJ, Drössler L, Amente G, Harvey BD, Knoke T, Lu Y, Nocentini S, et al. 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional evenaged forest management - What limits global adoption? For Ecosyst. 2(1). doi:10.1186/s40663-015-0031-x.

- del Río M, Bravo-Oviedo A, Pretzsch H, Löf M, Ruiz-Peinado R. 2017. A review of thinning effects on Scots pine stands: From growth and yield to new challenges under global change. For Syst. 26(2):eR03S-eR03S. doi:10.5424/FS/2017262-11325. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://revistas.inia.es/index.php/fs/article/view/11325/3617.
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Pérez-Ramos IM, Ourcival JM, Limousin JM, Joffre R, Rambal S. 2011. Is selective thinning an adequate practice for adapting Quercus ilex coppices to climate change? Ann For Sci 2011 683. 68(3):575–585. doi:10.1007/S13595-011-0050-X. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://link.springer.com/articles/10.1007/s13595-011-0050-x.
- Rose R, Ketchum JS. 2011. Interaction of vegetation control and fertilization on conifer species across the Pacific Northwest. https://doi.org/101139/x01-180. 32(1):136– 152. doi:10.1139/X01-180. [accessed 2022 Jun 6]. https://cdnsciencepub.com/doi/abs/10.1139/x01-180.
- Safford RK. 2004. Modelling critical winter habitat of four ungulate species in the Robson Valley, British Columbia. J Ecosyst Manag. 4(2). doi:10.22230/JEM.2004V4N2A275. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://jemonline.org/forrex/index.php/jem/article/view/275.
- Sakai H, Nordfjell T, Suadicani K, Talbot B, Bøllehuus E. 2008. Soil compaction on forest soils from different kinds of tires and tracks and possibility of accurate estimate. Croatian Journal of Forest Engineering: Journal for Theory and Application of Forestry Engineering. 29(1):15-27.
- Simonin K, Kolb TE, Montes-Helu M, Koch GW. 2007. The influence of thinning on components of stand water balance in a ponderosa pine forest stand during and after extreme drought. Agric For Meteorol. 143(3–4):266–276. doi:10.1016/J.AGRFORMET.2007.01.003.
- Skubel RA, Khomik M, Brodeur JJ, Thorne R, Arain MA. 2017. Short-term selective thinning effects on hydraulic functionality of a temperate pine forest in eastern Canada. Ecohydrology. 10(1):e1780. doi:10.1002/ECO.1780. [accessed 2022 Jun 1]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/eco.1780.
- Spencer, G. 2021. The post-harvest effect on the growth of Lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta var. latifolia) on the perimeter of harvested strips [unpublished MSc dissertation]. Thompson Rivers University. 98 p.
- Sohn JA, Gebhardt T, Ammer C, Bauhus J, Häberle KH, Matyssek R, Grams TEE. 2013. Mitigation of drought by thinning: Short-term and long-term effects on growth and physiological performance of Norway spruce (Picea abies). For Ecol Manage. 308:188–197. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2013.07.048.
- Soil Classification Working Group (SCWG). 1998. The Canadian system of soil classification. 3rd ed. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Publ. 1646, (revised) NRC

Research Press, Ottawa, 187 pp. [Online]. Available from https://sis.agr.gc.ca/cansis/publications/manuals/1998-cssc-ed3/index.html

- Udawatta RP, Garrett HE, Kallenbach R. 2011. Agroforestry Buffers for Nonpoint Source Pollution Reductions from Agricultural Watersheds. J Environ Qual. 40(3):800–806. doi:10.2134/JEQ2010.0168. [accessed 2022 May 31]. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2134/jeq2010.0168.
- Wallace B, Bulmer C, Hope G, Curran M, Philpott T, Murray M. 2021. Soil compaction and organic matter removal effects on soil properties and tree growth in the Interior Douglas-fir zone of southern British Columbia. For Ecol Manage. 494:119268. doi:10.1016/J.FORECO.2021.119268.
- Wang Y, Wei X, del Campo AD, Winkler R, Wu J, Li Q, Liu W. 2019. Juvenile thinning can effectively mitigate the effects of drought on tree growth and water consumption in a young Pinus contorta stand in the interior of British Columbia, Canada. For Ecol Manage. 454(May). doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117667.
- Wei L, Archaux F, Hulin F, Bilger I, Gosselin F. 2020. Stand attributes or soil microenvironment exert greater influence than management type on understory plant diversity in even-aged oak high forests. Forest Ecology and Management. 460:117897.
- Wilhelm RC, Cardenas E, Maas KR, Leung H, McNeil L, Berch S, Chapman W, Hope G, Kranabetter JM, Dubé S, et al. 2017. Biogeography and organic matter removal shape long-term effects of timber harvesting on forest soil microbial communities. ISME J 2017 1111. 11(11):2552–2568. doi:10.1038/ismej.2017.109. [accessed 2022 Jun 3]. https://www.nature.com/articles/ismej2017109.

5.0 APPENDIX A



Figure A.1. Soil pit displaying the sandy loam texture of brunosolic gray luvisolic soil. Bt horizon has higher clay content than Ae. Btg horizon from water table within <50cm of surface. The water table was at a depth of 42cm.



Figure A.2. Soil pit displaying the sandy loam texture of brunosolic gray luvisolic soils. Bt horizon has higher clay content than Ae. Btg horizon from non-permanent water table within <50cm of surface. Water table was at a depth of approximately 40cm.

6.0 APPENDIX B

Table B. 1. Summary of mean maximum daily temperatures and monthly precipitation sums by month and year observed at the Goudie Agroforestry Pilot Project during 2019-2020.

	20	19	2020			
	Mean Max. Daily		Mean Max. Daily	Precip. Sum		
	Temp. (°C)	Precip. Sum (mm)	Temp. (°C)	(mm)		
Jan	-	-	-1.9	16.2		
Feb	-	-	0.6	22.4		
Mar	12.1	-	3.0	18.4		
Apr	7.6	20.8	7.7	17.8		
May	16.0	27	13.4	160		
Jun	17.6	78.4	15.7	104.8		
Jul	19.9	56.8	21.2	53.4		
Aug	22.3	34.6	22.3	12		
Sep	13.9	88.4	18.7	-		
Oct	5.6	35	-	-		
Nov	2.7	22	-	-		
Dec	-1.0	24	-	-		

7.0 APPENDIX C



Figure C. 1. Photo facing east in 20 m leave-strip, between 10 m wide harvested strips. Block B, strips orientated east-west. Date taken: March 29, 2019.



Figure C. 2. Photo taken facing south. Photographer was standing in 15 m wide harvested strip, between 30 m leave-strips. Snow is still visible on north half of 30 m leave-strip. Block B, strips orientated east-west. Date taken: March 29, 2019.



North-South



Control (Forested)

Figure C. 3. Photos of snow pack observed simultaneously on May 1, 2019 at 12:00pm on permanently installed trail cameras. Delayed snow disappearance in east-west orientated strips, compared to north-south orientated strips. Snow has disappeared in forested areas and leave-strips.

10 m wide

20 m wide



Figure C. 4. Photo of east-west orientated (Block B) 10 m harvested trips, 20 m leavestrips, road, and clearcut with flat slope. Delayed snow disappearance was observed in 10m-wide harvested strips, relative to the road, clearcut, and forested stands. Photo taken: March 25, 2019.

8.0 APPENDIX D



Figure D. 1. Locations of all treatments, soil moisture stations, snow transects, and permanent cameras. Reserve strips are twice the width of adjacent harvested strips. Snow samples were at 20 m intervals along 180 m transects parallel to strip direction. All samples were located in the center of the strips (harvest or reserve).

9.0 APPENDIX E

Table E. 1. Summary of coarse fragment content (CFC) for each treatment. CFC was calculated as the percent volume of dried coarse material (sieved >2 mm, and assumed volume corrected assuming density of 2.65 Mg/m³) of the total volume of the dried mineral sample. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval, and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean				
Strip-width	Orientation	CFC (%)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	16.2	3.7	0.91	1.95	16
10 m	East-west	19.2	7.8	1.95	4.15	16
15 m	North-south	19.8	11.7	2.92	6.23	16
15 m	East-west	17.1	10.0	2.50	5.33	16
20 m	North-south	17.4	5.5	1.36	2.91	16
20 m	East-west	25.5	16.8	4.20	8.95	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	12.7	3.2	0.81	1.72	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	10.6	7.4	1.84	3.93	16

Table E. 2. Summary of dead forest floor litter depth by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean Litter				
Strip-width	Orientation	Depth (cm)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	0.64	0.42	0.11	0.23	16
10 m	East-west	1.26	1.40	0.35	0.74	16
15 m	North-south	0.89	0.48	0.12	0.26	16
15 m	East-west	0.82	0.65	0.16	0.34	16
20 m	North-south	1.59	1.54	0.38	0.82	16
20 m	East-west	1.41	2.05	0.51	1.09	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	2.20	0.87	0.22	0.46	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	1.96	1.01	0.25	0.54	16

Table E. 3. Summary of dead forest floor litter volume by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean Litter				
Strip-width	Orientation	Volume (mL)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	256.50	170.60	42.65	90.90	16
10 m	East-west	502.50	559.23	139.81	297.99	16
15 m	North-south	355.69	192.71	48.18	102.69	16
15 m	East-west	327.50	258.50	64.62	137.74	16
20 m	North-south	635.00	614.82	153.70	327.61	16
20 m	East-west	560.56	818.29	204.57	436.04	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	880.00	347.79	86.95	185.33	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	785.00	404.47	101.12	215.53	16

Table E. 4. Summary of dead forest floor litter mass by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean Litter				
Strip-width	Orientation	Mass (g)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	31.75	25.24	6.31	13.45	16
10 m	East-west	57.23	46.60	11.65	24.83	16
15 m	North-south	56.03	34.13	8.53	18.19	16
15 m	East-west	41.36	21.31	5.33	11.36	16
20 m	North-south	67.42	48.85	12.21	26.03	16
20 m	East-west	54.98	90.43	22.61	48.19	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	47.08	19.83	4.96	10.57	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	47.79	21.99	5.50	11.72	16
Table E. 5. Summary of the depth of dead forest floor fermented and humic organic soil layers (FH) by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean FH				
Strip-width	Orientation	Depth (cm)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	3.11	2.45	0.61	1.31	16
10 m	East-west	4.96	2.64	0.66	1.40	16
15 m	North-south	4.81	2.19	0.55	1.17	16
15 m	East-west	4.55	3.54	0.88	1.89	16
20 m	North-south	4.27	2.78	0.70	1.48	16
20 m	East-west	6.54	3.71	0.93	1.97	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	4.63	3.32	0.83	1.77	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	3.88	2.44	0.61	1.30	16

Table E. 6. Summary of the volume of dead forest floor fermented and humic organic soil layers (FH) by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

Harvested		Mean FH				
Strip-width	Orientation	Volume (mL)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
10 m	North-south	1238.75	981.25	245.31	522.87	16
10 m	East-west	1985.00	1054.65	263.66	561.99	16
15 m	North-south	1915.63	871.73	217.93	464.51	16
15 m	East-west	1820.00	1415.27	353.82	754.14	16
20 m	North-south	1703.75	1112.94	278.23	593.04	16
20 m	East-west	2612.50	1479.58	369.90	788.41	16
Non-Harvested	North-south	1850.00	1326.69	331.67	706.94	16
Non-Harvested	East-west	1552.50	977.31	244.33	520.77	16

Table E. 7. Summary of the mass of dead forest floor fermented and humic organic soil layers (FH) by treatment. Summary includes standard deviation (SD), standard error (SE), 95 % confidence interval (CI), and sample size (n).

	Mean FH				
Orientation	Mass (g)	SD	SE	95 % CI	n
North-south	292.64	272.72	68.18	145.32	16
East-west	500.69	302.69	75.67	161.29	16
North-south	493.11	338.23	84.56	180.23	16
East-west	477.42	550.17	137.54	293.17	16
North-south	470.78	477.90	119.47	254.65	16
East-west	808.05	669.59	167.40	356.80	16
North-south	269.25	228.78	57.20	121.91	16
East-west	304.38	345.95	86.49	184.34	16
	Orientation North-south East-west North-south East-west North-south East-west North-south East-west	Mean FHOrientationMass (g)North-south292.64East-west500.69North-south493.11East-west477.42North-south470.78East-west808.05North-south269.25East-west304.38	Mean FHOrientationMass (g)SDNorth-south292.64272.72East-west500.69302.69North-south493.11338.23East-west477.42550.17North-south470.78477.90East-west808.05669.59North-south269.25228.78East-west304.38345.95	Mean FHOrientationMass (g)SDSENorth-south292.64272.7268.18East-west500.69302.6975.67North-south493.11338.2384.56East-west477.42550.17137.54North-south470.78477.90119.47East-west808.05669.59167.40North-south269.25228.7857.20East-west304.38345.9586.49	Mean FHOrientationMass (g)SDSE95 % ClNorth-south292.64272.7268.18145.32East-west500.69302.6975.67161.29North-south493.11338.2384.56180.23East-west477.42550.17137.54293.17North-south470.78477.90119.47254.65East-west808.05669.59167.40356.80North-south269.25228.7857.20121.91East-west304.38345.9586.49184.34

10.0 APPENDIX F

Table F. 1. Summary of snow sampling point terrain, maximum snow water equivalent (Max. SWE), and mean date of disappearance for 2019 and 2020, by transect (n=10). Snow was sampled between March 3 – May 8. Reserve strips were twice as wide as harvested strips. The strips were orientated North-South (N-S) or East-West (E-W). Means include 95% confidence interval.

							2019		2020
		Strip	Strip			Mean		Mean	
Tran-		Width	Orient-	Mean	Mean	Max. SWE	Mean date of	Max.	Mean date of
sect #	Treatment	(m)	ation	Aspect (°)	Slope (°)	(cm)	disappearance	SWE (cm)	disappearance
1	Harvested Strip	10	N-S	312 ± 1.8	6 ± 0	16.3 ± 1.7	Apr-30 ± 3.0	28.7 ± 1.2	May-14 ± 2.2
2	Harvested Strip	15	N-S	21 ± 0.9	3 ± 0	16.8 ± 0.9	Apr-29 ± 2.5	29.9 ± 1.2	May-14 ± 1.1
3	Harvested Strip	20	N-S	199 ± 2.0	7.3 ± 0.1	18.8 ± 2.3	Apr-30 ± 3.0	31.1 ± 1.6	May-14 ± 1.6
4	Harvested Strip	10	E-W	216 ± 1.1	10 ± 0	16.8 ± 0.9	May-01 ± 2.8	28.5 ± 1.1	May-11 ± 4.0
5	Harvested Strip	15	E-W	236 ± 1.3	8 ± 0	18.6 ± 1.6	May-01 ± 2.6	29.4 ± 1.2	May-11 ± 3.7
6	Harvested Strip	20	E-W	248 ± 4.0	7 ± 0	21.3 ± 1.3	Apr-29 ± 2.8	30.1 ± 1.7	May-05 ± 3.0
7	Reserve Strip	20	N-S	313 ± 2.0	6 ± 0	9.9 ± 1.7	Apr-18 ± 5.2	18.6 ± 3	May-05 ± 2.7
8	Reserve Strip	30	N-S	76 ± 2.6	2.6 ± 0.2	10.1 ± 2.0	Apr-21 ± 4.1	18.7 ± 2.5	May-10 ± 3.3
9	Reserve Strip	40	N-S	72 ± 2.6	6.6 ± 0.1	11.5 ± 2	Apr-24 ± 5.0	20.3 ± 2.2	May-10 ± 3.8
10	Reserve Strip	20	E-W	217 ± 1.3	10 ± 0	9.1 ± 1.2	Apr-06 ± 9.4	17.8 ± 2	May-03 ± 1.0
11	Reserve Strip	30	E-W	229 ± 1.7	8 ± 0	12.4 ± 2.7	Apr-15 ± 2.8	17.8 ± 1.6	May-05 ± 3.1
12	Reserve Strip	40	E-W	307 ± 1.4	7 ± 0	11.3 ± 1.0	Apr-11 ± 5.7	16.9 ± 1.4	May-03 ± 1.0
13	Non-harvested	-	-	283 ± 2.6	6 ± 0	7.4 ± 1.1	Apri-22 ± 4.8	18.5 ± 3.3	May-09 ± 3.4
14	Non-harvested	-	-	199 ± 4.1	2 ± 0	10.9 ± 2.3	Apr-23 ± 6.1	21.9 ± 3.9	May-14 ± 2.6
15	Clearcut	-	-	116 ± 0.0	1.6 ± 0.3	17.1 ± 1.6	Apr-23 ± 5	28 ± 2.5	May-05 ± 2.1
16	Clearcut	-	-	116 ± 0.0	1 ± 0	-	-	28.7 ± 1.7	May-04 ± 1.5

Table F. 2. Snow ablation rates for 2019, summarized by transect (n=10). Snow was sampled between March 3 – May 5. Ablation was calculated by the difference in snow water equivalent (SWE) from the previous sample period divided by the number of days between sampling (cm/day). Average ablation rate was taken as an average of all of the mean rates by sampling period. Reserve strips were twice as wide as harvested strips. The strips were orientated North-South (N-S) or East-West (E-W). Means include 95% confidence interval.

		Strip		Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate
Transect		Width	Strip	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)
#	Treatment	(m)	Orientation	2019-Mar-29	2019-Apr-12	2019-Apr-26	2019-May-5	2019 Average
1	Harvested Strip	10	N-S	-0.05 ± 0.14	-0.23 ± 0.09	-0.6 ± 0.14	-0.3 ± 0.24	-0.43 ± 0.05
2	Harvested Strip	20	N-S	-0.24 ± 0.09	-0.09 ± 0.1	-0.63 ± 0.11	-0.46 ± 0.37	-0.39 ± 0.04
3	Harvested Strip	15	N-S	-0.14 ± 0.05	-0.13 ± 0.1	-0.69 ± 0.09	-0.26 ± 0.21	-0.45 ± 0.09
4	Harvested Strip	10	E-W	-0.23 ± 0.09	-0.24 ± 0.11	-0.73 ± 0.12	-0.33 ± 0.3	-0.47 ± 0.06
5	Harvested Strip	15	E-W	-0.02 ± 0.13	-0.11 ± 0.16	-0.74 ± 0.18	-0.6 ± 0.29	-0.53 ± 0.06
6	Harvested Strip	20	E-W	0.22 ± 0.18	-0.19 ± 0.06	-0.65 ± 0.05	-0.53 ± 0.29	-0.46 ± 0.06
7	Reserve Strip	10	N-S	-0.26 ± 0.12	-0.19 ± 0.09	-0.09 ± 0.1	-0.04 ± 0.1	-0.25 ± 0.06
8	Reserve Strip	40	N-S	-0.23 ± 0.1	-0.22 ± 0.19	-0.25 ± 0.12	-	-0.32 ± 0.2
9	Reserve Strip	30	N-S	-0.06 ± 0.16	-0.34 ± 0.25	-0.18 ± 0.08	-	-0.29 ± 0.05
10	Reserve Strip	40	E-W	-0.44 ± 0.06	-0.15 ± 0.09	-0.03 ± 0.06	-	-0.36 ± 0.08
11	Reserve Strip	30	E-W	-0.22 ± 0.21	-0.42 ± 0.3	-0.06 ± 0.05	-	-0.4 ± 0.3
12	Reserve Strip	20	E-W	-0.36 ± 0.08	-0.06 ± 0.08	-0.07 ± 0.08	-	-0.36 ± 0.05
13	Non-harvested	-	-	-0.16 ± 0.08	-0.16 ± 0.07	-0.13 ± 0.07	-	-0.18 ± 0.03
14	Non-harvested	-	-	-0.22 ± 0.22	-0.1 ± 0.33	-0.23 ± 0.14	-0.1 ± 0.12	-0.39 ± 0.11
15	Clearcut	-	-	-0.29 ± 0.07	-0.39 ± 0.25	-0.39 ± 0.16	-	-0.43 ± 0.06

Table F. 3. Snow ablation rates for 2020, summarized by transect (n=10). Snow was sampled between March 7 – May 8. Ablation was calculated by the difference in snow water equivalent (SWE) from the previous sample period divided by the number of days between sampling (cm/day). Average ablation rate was taken as an average of all of the mean rates by sampling period. Reserve strips were twice as wide as harvested open-strips. Strips were orientated North-South (N-S) or East-West (E-W). Means include 95% confidence interval.

					Ablation	Ablation			
		Strip	Strip	Ablation Rate	Rate	Rate	Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate	Ablation Rate
Transect		Width	Orient-	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)	(cm/day)
#	Treatment	(m)	ation	2020-Mar-27	2020-Apr-10	2020-Apr-24	2020-May-2	2020-May 8	2020 Average
1	Harvested Strip	10	N-S	0.11 ± 0.08	-0.14 ± 0.11	-0.43 ± 0.13	-1.26 ± 0.12	-0.48 ± 0.19	-0.63 ± 0.11
2	Harvested Strip	20	N-S	0.15 ± 0.11	-0.07 ± 0.18	-0.5 ± 0.14	-1.23 ± 0.12	-0.57 ± 0.3	-0.7 ± 0.09
3	Harvested Strip	15	N-S	0.1 ± 0.09	-0.15 ± 0.27	-0.31 ± 0.17	-1.26 ± 0.2	-0.62 ± 0.23	-0.67 ± 0.07
4	Harvested Strip	20	E-W	0.11 ± 0.11	-0.05 ± 0.14	-0.73 ± 0.23	-1.94 ± 0.39	-0.42 ± 0.37	-0.81 ± 0.17
5	Harvested Strip	15	E-W	0.05 ± 0.07	-0.06 ± 0.12	-0.52 ± 0.12	-1.6 ± 0.29	-0.53 ± 0.34	-0.85 ± 0.15
6	Harvested Strip	10	E-W	0.03 ± 0.09	-0.05 ± 0.13	-0.49 ± 0.14	-1.57 ± 0.29	-0.47 ± 0.38	-1.07 ± 0.23
7	Reserve Strip	10	N-S	0.04 ± 0.08	-0.13 ± 0.15	-0.44 ± 0.1	-0.88 ± 0.18	-0.32 ± 0.29	-0.5 ± 0.07
8	Reserve Strip	40	N-S	0.09 ± 0.24	-0.05 ± 0.39	-0.36 ± 0.41	-0.86 ± 0.18	-0.4 ± 0.2	-0.53 ± 0.06
9	Reserve Strip	30	N-S	0.1 ± 0.08	-0.2 ± 0.13	-0.3 ± 0.14	-0.89 ± 0.18	-0.4 ± 0.24	-0.62 ± 0.09
10	Reserve Strip	40	E-W	0.12 ± 0.12	-0.29 ± 0.16	-0.34 ± 0.11	-0.9 ± 0.17	-0.1 ± 0.12	-0.5 ± 0.1
11	Reserve Strip	30	E-W	0.03 ± 0.13	-0.06 ± 0.22	-0.44 ± 0.15	-1 ± 0.18	-0.2 ± 0.15	-0.62 ± 0.13
12	Reserve Strip	20	E-W	0.07 ± 0.08	-0.31 ± 0.12	-0.54 ± 0.08	-0.68 ± 0.22	-0.1 ± 0.16	-0.5 ± 0.06
13	Non-harvested	-	-	0.05 ± 0.13	-0.03 ± 0.3	-0.39 ± 0.25	-0.8 ± 0.16	-0.17 ± 0.28	-0.44 ± 0.07
14	Non-harvested	-	-	-0.02 ± 0.21	0.05 ± 0.23	-0.33 ± 0.13	-0.86 ± 0.21	-0.23 ± 0.36	-0.48 ± 0.07
15	Clearcut	-	-	0.09 ± 0.08	-0.04 ± 0.21	-0.61 ± 0.15	-1.69 ± 0.41	-0.67 ± 0.37	-0.89 ± 0.11
16	Clearcut	-	-	0.11 ± 0.09	-0.09 ± 0.17	-0.51 ± 0.18	-2.11 ± 0.35	-0.48 ± 0.32	-1.07 ± 0.18

Table F. 4. Summary of means and 95 % confidence intervals for terrain, canopy cover, estimated transmitted direct radiation, peak snow water equivalent (SWE), date of snow disappearance, and average ablation rate for <u>harvested strips</u> of various widths (10-20 m) and of two orientations (North-South and East-West). Non-harvested and clearcut controls were also included. Snow was sampled between March 3 – May 5, 2019 and 2020.

		North-South			East-West		Control Non-	
	10 m	15 m	20 m	10 m	15 m	20 m	Harvested	Control Clearcut
Elevation (m)	1382.8 ± 0.7	1383.6 ± 0.3	1385.9 ± 0.7	1357.2 ± 0.7	1367.6 ± 0.9	1372.8 ± 0.8	1373 ± 1.8	1389.2 ± 0.1
Slope (°)	6 ± 0	3 ± 0	7.3 ± 0.1	10 ± 0	8 ± 0	7 ± 0	4 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.2
Aspect (°)	312 ± 1.8	21 ± 0.9	199 ± 2.0	216 ± 1.1	236 ± 1.3	248 ± 4.0	240 ± 5.9	116 ± 0.0
Canopy cover (%)	61.9 ± 0.6	47.5 ± 0.3	42.6 ± 0.3	59.4 ± 0.4	50.6 ± 0.3	41.2 ± 0.2	86.1 ± 0.5	13.2 ± 0.2
Trans. Direct Rad. (MJ/m2/d)	3.7 ± 0.1	5.3 ± 0.1	5.1 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	3.1 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	9.3 ± 0.1
2019 - Peak SWE (cm)	16.3 ± 1.7	16.8 ± 0.9	18.8 ± 2.3	16.8 ± 0.9	18.6 ± 1.6	21.3 ± 1.3	9.2 ± 1.4	17.1 ± 1.6
2019 – Date of Disappearance	Apr-30 ± 3	Apr-29 ± 2.5	Apr-30 ± 3	May-01 ± 2.8	May-01 ± 2.6	Apr-29 ± 2.8	Apr-22 ± 3.5	Apr-23 ± 4.9
2019 – Avg. Ablation rate (cm/day)	-0.43 ± 0.05	-0.39 ± 0.04	-0.45 ± 0.09	-0.47 ± 0.06	-0.53 ± 0.06	-0.46 ± 0.06	-0.28 ± 0.07	-0.43 ± 0.06
2020 - Peak SWE 2020 (cm)	28.7 ± 1.2	29.9 ± 1.2	31.1 ± 1.6	28.5 ± 1.1	29.4 ± 1.2	30.1 ± 1.7	20.2 ± 2.4	28.4 ± 1.4
2020 – Date of Disappearance	May-14 ± 2.2	May-15 ± 0.7	May-14 ± 1.6	May-11 ± 4	May-11 ± 3.7	May-05 ± 3	May-11 ± 2.2	May-05 ± 1.2
2020 – Avg. Ablation rate (cm/day)	-0.63 ± 0.11	-0.7 ± 0.09	-0.67 ± 0.07	-0.81 ± 0.17	-0.85 ± 0.15	-1.07 ± 0.23	-0.46 ± 0.05	-0.98 ± 0.1

Table F. 5. Summary of means and 95 % confidence intervals for terrain, canopy cover, estimated transmitted direct radiation, peak snow water equivalent (SWE), date of snow disappearance, and average ablation rate for <u>reserve strips</u> of various widths (10-20 m) and of two orientations (North-South and East-West). Reserve strips were twice the width of adjacent harvested strips. Non-harvested and clearcut controls were also included. Snow was sampled between March 3 – May 5, 2019 and 2020.

_	North-South				East-West			
	20 m	30 m	40 m	20 m	30 m	40 m	Harvested	Control Clearcut
Elevation (m)	1384.1 ± 0.9	1383.3 ± 0.2	1386.9 ± 0.7	1355.5 ± 0.7	1364.9 ± 0.9	1373.6 ± 0.7	1373 ± 1.8	1389.2 ± 0.1
Slope (°)	6 ± 0	2.6 ± 0.1	6.3 ± 0.2	10 ± 0	8 ± 0	7 ± 0	4 ± 0.3	1.4 ± 0.2
Aspect (°)	313 ± 2.0	76 ± 2.6	72 ± 2.6	217 ± 1.3	229 ± 1.7	307 ± 1.4	240 ± 5.9	116 ± 0.0
Canopy cover (%)	85 ± 0.5	76.8 ± 0.5	77.2 ± 0.3	81.2 ± 0.4	84.2 ± 0.3	78.1 ± 0.4	86.1 ± 0.5	13.2 ± 0.2
Trans. Direct Rad. (MJ/m2/d)	1.0 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.1	1.4 ± 0.1	2.6 ± 0.2	2.2 ± 0.1	2.4 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1	9.3 ± 0.1
2019 - Peak SWE (cm)	9.9 ± 1.7	10.1 ± 2	11.5 ± 2	9.1 ± 1.2	12.4 ± 2.7	11.3 ± 1	9.2 ± 1.4	17.1 ± 1.6
2019 – Date of Disappearance	Apr-18 ± 5.2	Apr-21 ± 4.1	Apr-24 ± 5	Apr-06 ± 9.3	Apr-15 ± 2.8	Apr-11 ± 5.7	Apr-22 ± 3.5	Apr-23 ± 4.9
2019 – Avg. Ablation rate (cm/day)	-0.25 ± 0.06	-0.32 ± 0.2	-0.29 ± 0.05	-0.36 ± 0.08	-0.4 ± 0.3	-0.36 ± 0.05	-0.28 ± 0.07	-0.43 ± 0.06
2020 - Peak SWE 2020 (cm)	18.6 ± 3	18.7 ± 2.5	20.3 ± 2.2	17.8 ± 2	17.8 ± 1.6	16.9 ± 1.4	20.2 ± 2.4	28.4 ± 1.4
2020 – Date of Disappearance	May-05 ± 2.7	May-09 ± 3.4	May-10 ± 3.3	May-03 ± 1	May-05 ± 3.1	May-03 ± 1	May-11 ± 2.2	May-05 ± 1.2
2020 – Avg. Ablation rate (cm/day)	-0.5 ± 0.07	-0.53 ± 0.06	-0.62 ± 0.09	-0.5 ± 0.1	-0.62 ± 0.13	-0.5 ± 0.06	-0.46 ± 0.05	-0.98 ± 0.1

		Mean Number of Days		
		Treatment #1 Disappeared	95 %	
Treatment #1	Treatment #2	Before Treatment #2	CI	P-Value
20m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	17.7	± 7.1	<0.0001
20m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	18.2	± 7.1	<0.0001
20m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	18.4	± 7.1	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	12.4	± 7.1	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	12.9	± 7.1	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	13.2	± 7.1	<0.0001
30m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	11.8	± 7.1	<0.0001
30m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	12.3	± 7.1	<0.0001
30m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	12.6	± 7.1	<0.0001
20m - Reserve	No - Harvest	10.1	± 7.1	0.0006
20m - Reserve	Clearcut	11.4	± 8.7	0.0023
No - Harvest	20m - Harvest	7.6	± 7.1	0.0289
No - Harvest	15m - Harvest	8.0	± 7.1	0.0148
No - Harvest	10m - Harvest	8.3	± 7.1	0.0104
20m - Reserve	40m - Reserve	5.2	± 7.1	0.3167
20m - Reserve	30m - Reserve	5.8	± 7.1	0.1911
40m - Reserve	30m - Reserve	0.6	± 7.1	1.0000
40m - Reserve	No - Harvest	4.9	± 7.1	0.4210
40m - Reserve	Clearcut	6.2	± 8.7	0.3746
30m - Reserve	No - Harvest	4.3	± 7.1	0.5949
30m - Reserve	Clearcut	5.6	± 8.7	0.5121
No - Harvest	Clearcut	1.3	± 8.7	0.9998
Clearcut	20m - Harvest	6.3	± 8.7	0.3534
Clearcut	15m - Harvest	6.8	± 8.7	0.2570
Clearcut	10m - Harvest	7.0	± 8.7	0.2157
20m - Harvest	15m - Harvest	0.5	± 7.1	1.0000
20m - Harvest	10m - Harvest	0.8	± 7.1	1.0000
15m - Harvest	10m - Harvest	0.3	± 7.1	1.0000

Table F. 6. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of days between snow disappearance observed in all treatments in 2019.

		Mean Number of Days		
		Treatment #1 Disappeared	95 %	
Treatment #1	Treatment #2	Before Treatment #2	CI	P-Value
30m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	2.3	± 4.4	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	6.2	± 4.3	<0.0001
30m - Reserve	No - Harvest	4.1	± 4.4	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	No - Harvest	4.9	± 4.3	<0.0001
30m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	5.4	± 4.4	<0.0001
40m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	5.8	± 4.3	<0.0001
20m - Reserve	40m - Reserve	2.8	± 4.3	0.0005
Clearcut	15m - Harvest	8.2	± 4.4	0.0014
Clearcut	20m - Harvest	5.1	± 4.4	0.0016
Clearcut	30m - Reserve	2.8	± 4.4	0.0056
No - Harvest	10m - Harvest	0.9	± 4.4	0.0102
No - Harvest	15m - Harvest	1.3	± 4.4	0.0144
40m - Reserve	30m - Reserve	0.8	± 4.3	0.0148
20m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	8.5	± 4.4	0.0897
20m - Reserve	No - Harvest	7.7	± 4.4	0.1882
Clearcut	No - Harvest	6.8	± 4.4	0.3392
Clearcut	40m - Reserve	2.0	± 4.3	0.3886
10m - Harvest	15m - Harvest	0.4	± 4.4	0.5011
20m - Harvest	No - Harvest	1.7	± 4.4	0.5035
20m - Reserve	Clearcut	0.8	± 4.4	0.5754
20m - Harvest	15m - Harvest	3.1	± 4.4	0.7372
40m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	3.1	± 4.3	0.9208
20m - Reserve	20m - Harvest	5.9	± 4.4	0.9841
20m - Reserve	15m - Harvest	9.0	± 4.4	0.9983
30m - Reserve	10m - Harvest	4.9	± 4.4	0.9989
Clearcut	10m - Harvest	7.7	± 4.4	0.9992
20m - Reserve	30m - Reserve	3.6	± 4.4	1.0000

Table F. 7. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of days between snow disappearance observed in all treatments in 2020.

Table F. 8. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of days between snow disappearance observed in <u>2019</u> between all reserve-strips orientated east-west (E-W), all reserve-strips orientated east-west (N-S), all strip-harvests orientated north-south (N-S), all strip-harvests orientated east-west (E-W), as well as clearcut and non-harvested controls.

		Mean Number of Days		
		Treatment #1 Disappeared	95 %	
 Treatment #1	Treatment #2	Before Treatment #2	CI	P-Value
Reserve-strips E-W	Strip-Harvests N-S	18.9	5.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Strip-Harvests E-W	20.0	5.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Non-Harvested	11.5	5.6	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Reserve-strips N-S	10.2	5.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips N-S	Strip-Harvests E-W	9.8	5.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Clearcut	12.8	7.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips N-S	Strip-Harvests N-S	8.7	5.0	< 0.0001
Non-Harvested	Strip-Harvests E-W	8.5	5.6	0.0003
Non-Harvested	Strip-Harvests N-S	7.4	5.6	0.0024
Clearcut	Strip-Harvests E-W	7.2	7.0	0.0421
Clearcut	Strip-Harvests N-S	6.1	7.0	0.1269
Reserve-strips N-S	Clearcut	2.6	7.0	0.8941
Reserve-strips N-S	Non-Harvested	1.3	5.6	0.9845
Strip-Harvests N-S	Strip-Harvests E-W	1.1	5.0	0.9895
Non-Harvested	Clearcut	1.3	7.5	0.9960

Table F. 9. Results of a Tukey post-hoc test, summarizing the mean number of days between snow disappearance observed in <u>2020</u> between all reserve-strips orientated east-west (E-W), all reserve-strips orientated east-west (N-S), all strip-harvests orientated north-south (N-S), all strip-harvests orientated east-west (E-W), as well as clearcut and non-harvested controls.

		Mean Number of Days		
		Treatment #1 Disappeared	95 %	
Treatment #1	Treatment #2	Before Treatment #2	CI	P-Value
Reserve-strips E-W	Strip-Harvests N-S	10.7	3.0	< 0.0001
Clearcut	Strip-Harvests N-S	9.7	3.4	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Non-Harvested	7.9	3.4	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips N-S	Strip-Harvests N-S	6.0	3.0	< 0.0001
Clearcut	Non-Harvested	6.9	3.7	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Strip-Harvests E-W	5.4	3.0	< 0.0001
Strip-Harvests E-W	Strip-Harvests N-S	5.3	3.0	< 0.0001
Reserve-strips E-W	Reserve-strips N-S	4.7	3.0	0.0002
Clearcut	Strip-Harvests E-W	4.3	3.4	0.0042
Clearcut	Reserve-strips N-S	3.6	3.4	0.0273
Reserve-strips N-S	Non-Harvested	3.2	3.4	0.0701
Non-Harvested	Strip-Harvests N-S	2.8	3.4	0.1650
Strip-Harvests E-W	Non-Harvested	2.5	3.4	0.2733
Reserve-strips E-W	Clearcut	1.0	3.4	0.9513
Reserve-strips N-S	Strip-Harvests E-W	0.7	3.0	0.9842

Table F. 10. Results of a Games-Howell pairwise comparison test used to determine effects of treatments on estimated transmitted direct radiation $(MJ/m^2/d)$ in harvested strips of commercially thinned stands of various widths (10, 15, 20m). Strip-width of harvested strips and strip-orientation were fixed independent variables. NS = north-south, EW = east-west

		Estimated difference		
		in transmitted direct	95 %	
Group 1	Group 2	radiation (MJ/m ² /d)	CI	P-Value
Clearcut	NS.10m	-5.64	±0.77	< 0.001
Clearcut	NS.15m	-3.99	±0.47	<0.001
Clearcut	NS.20m	-4.20	±0.28	< 0.001
Clearcut	NS.No-Harvest	-8.34	±0.65	< 0.001
Clearcut	EW.10m	-6.75	±0.98	< 0.001
Clearcut	EW.15m	-6.19	±0.44	< 0.001
Clearcut	EW.20m	-4.20	±1.79	< 0.001
Clearcut	EW.No-Harvest	-7.88	±0.36	< 0.001
NS.10m	NS.15m	1.64	±0.81	< 0.001
NS.10m	NS.20m	1.43	±0.77	< 0.001
NS.10m	NS.No-Harvest	-2.70	±0.89	< 0.001
NS.10m	EW.10m	-1.11	±1.1	0.047
NS.10m	EW.15m	-0.55	±0.8	0.31
NS10m	EW.20m	1.43	±1.82	0.18
NS10m	EW.No-Harvest	-2.23	±0.79	< 0.001
NS15m	NS.20m	-0.20	±0.49	0.8
NS15m	NS.No-Harvest	-4.34	±0.72	< 0.001
NS15m	EW.10m	-2.76	±1	< 0.001
NS15m	EW.15m	-2.20	±0.56	< 0.001
NS15m	EW.20m	-0.21	±1.793	1
NS15m	EW.No-Harvest	-3.88	±0.52	< 0.001
NS20m	NS.No-Harvest	-4.13	±0.66	< 0.001
NS20m	EW.10m	-2.55	±0.97	< 0.001
NS20m	EW.15m	-1.99	±0.45	< 0.001
NS20m	EW.20m	-0.001	±1.779	1
NS20m	EW.No-Harvest	-3.67	±0.38	< 0.001
NS.No-Harvest	EW.10m	1.58	±1.05	0.002
NS.No-Harvest	EW.15m	2.14	±0.7	< 0.001
NS.No-Harvest	EW.20m	4.13	±1.81	< 0.001
NS.No-Harvest	EW.No-Harvest	0.46	±0.67	0.31
EW.10m	EW.15m	0.55	±0.98	0.528
EW.10m	EW.20m	2.54	±1.87	0.005
EW.10m	EW.No-Harvest	-1.12	±0.98	0.022
EW.15m	EW.20m	1.99	±1.79	0.026
EW.15m	EW.No-Harvest	-1.68	±0.5	< 0.001
EW.20m	EW.No-Harvest	-3.67	±1.78	< 0.001